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WHO  
WE ARE

Aidlink is a development 
organisation, founded in 1982 in 
Dublin. We strive to achieve gender 
equality and end poverty in Africa, 
while also raising awareness of 
global inequality in Ireland.

For almost forty years Aidlink has worked to improve 
the lives of the most vulnerable and excluded, creating 
a lasting impact in the communities that we reach.

We are committed to making a lasting effect on the 
lives of girls, both in their day-to-day lives and in their 
position in society, while at the same time, working to 
build livelihoods and improve community well-being. 

Our programmes aim to deliver lasting change. By 
listening to the voices of the community, and through 
our partnerships, we work to address the structural 
causes of inequality and poverty. We believe that by 
putting the furthest behind first – often girls – we can 
support entire communities’ growth.
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WHAT WE DO

INTERNATIONAL IN IRELAND

 GENDER 
EQUALITY
Aidlink and our partners are 
working to address the barriers 
that keep girls from attending 
school and flourishing in society. 

We are working to promote gender 
sensitivity and further rights-
based education in communities.  
Students and teachers are 
being trained to support a child-
friendly learning 
environment; 
communities have 
been sensitised 
on the harm of 
cultural practices 
like early marriage and FGM.

Through our community 
volunteers, we are working to 
identify out-of-school children 
– particularly girls and children 
with disabilities - and support 
them to enrol back in school. 

We support girls to attend school. 
We are providing girls with 
sanitary products, installing toilets 
with in-built washrooms and 
hand washing facilities on school 
grounds, and setting up clubs that 
teach children about rights. 

 

EDUCATION
Aidlink works to provide better 
education and increase enrolment 
and retention in schools. There are 
a number of different reasons why 
children are not in 
school. At Aidlink, we 
work to remove some 
of those obstacles. 

We provide access 
to water on school grounds or 
within walking distance so that 
thirst, or the work required to 
fetch water, does not keep children 
from school. We build inclusive 
bathrooms with disability access 
and handwashing facilities, as well 
as changing rooms, and supply 
sanitary pads. We provide school 
meals to thousands of children, so 
that hunger is not a reason to miss 
class; we sensitise communities 
on the value of education and the 
harm of archaic cultural practices 
– to keep children in school. 

 

 

LIVELIHOODS
Aidlink works to 
support families to 
develop sustainable 
agricultural practices. 

We work with pastoral 
communities, smallholder farming 
families, to ensure that they have 
the knowledge to produce and 
use plants for food, fuel and land 
restoration.  We deliver training on 
business management, nutrition 
and finance, as well as other skills 
key to sustainable agriculture.

EMERGENCIES
One of our strengths at Aidlink is 
our partnerships. Our partners are 
on the ground, ready to respond.

Our primary focus in a crisis 
is responding to the needs of 
the most vulnerable. Together 
with our partners, we provide 
a range of support to affected 
communities: food; clean drinking 
water; sanitation; basic healthcare 

materials; and access 
to information. 

We particularly focus 
on girls and women.

SCHOOLS
Aidlink has operated an Immersion 
Programme since 2004. We provide 
an opportunity for Irish secondary 
school students to attend school 
in one of the countries where 
we work so that they can get to 
know the culture, traditions and 
society, as well as the challenges, of 
communities in the Global South. 

Our Immersion Programme 
enriches the lives of participating 
Irish students. The insights the 
Immersion Programme offers Irish 
students contribute to building a 
socially conscious constituency of 
young people who are committed 
to the principles of social justice 
and who are attuned to the issues 
of international development.  

VOLUNTEERS
Aidlink is committed to advancing 
girls’ rights and ending poverty in 
Africa. We believe education is one 
way to do that. Our volunteers raise 
awareness of global issues when 
they fundraise for an immersion 
programme or organise for one of 
our events. They bring home the 
adage, ‘think global, act local’. 

We are incredibly proud of our 
volunteers and the work they 
do for the most vulnerable 
in Africa. Thank you.
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2019 
HIGHLIGHTS

In 2019, Aidlink’s work improved  
the lives of over 15,000 children 
and their families in some of the 
poorest parts of Kenya and Uganda

640 children across Aidlink’s 16 target 
schools in Kenya trained in child rights, 
health, and hygiene and sanitation.

Aidlink’s 16 target schools in Kenya 
now rank ‘Satisfactory’ or above 
on UNICEF’s Child-Friendly School 
Monitoring Tool. 

73 farmers in 3 target communities 
in Karamoja, Uganda were trained 
in improved agricultural and water 
harvesting techniques, and improved crop 
diversification and enterprise selection.

Over 1,820 people 
across three 
communities in 
Karamoja now have  
improved access to 
cleaner, safer water.  

As part of Aidlink’s 
Covid-19 response, 600 
households in Turkana 
County received daily 
meals and 1,650 girls 
received sanitary pads 
and underwear.

Income 2019

€ 665,065

46.61%  (€310,000) 
Irish Aid

18.85% (€125,376) 
Foundations, Trusts & 

Corporations 

23.97% (€159,377) 
Immersion

10.57%  (€70,312) 
Fundraising

Expenditure 2019

€ 721,108

78.16%  (€563,612) 
Development Programmes

16.74% (€120,692) 
Development Education 

5.10%  (€36,804) 
Raising Funds
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Aidlink

WHERE WE 
WORK

WHERE  
WE WORK
Aidlink operates in three regions in 
Kenya and Uganda – Kajiado and 
Turkana in Kenya, and Karamoja 
in Uganda. These regions are the 
traditional home to nomadic-
pastoralist communities; the 
Maasai in Kajiado, the Turkana 
people in Turkana, and the 
Karamajong in Karamoja.

Aidlink also work with the   
Spiritan Province in Ghana.

Aidlink Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019
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KENYA

Kenya was named a lower-middle-
income country in 2015: Progress 
has been made through political 
reform and sustained economic 
growth has transformed urban areas. 
However, this progress is unevenly 
distributed. Close to 45% of the 
population live on less than $2 a 
day; poverty and inequality are still 
crucial development challenges for 
Kenya. 

Aidlink’s work focuses on two arid 
and semi-arid counties in the the 
country, where most of Kenya’s poor 

live – Turkana and Kajiado. Here, a 
sizeable proportion of people lack 
access to essential services such as 
water, education and health.
 
As nomadic pastoralists, the Turkana 
and Maasai rely heavily on their 
animals, moving them around in 
search of water and pasture. In 
recent years, these communities 
have been subject to the devastating 
impact of climate change. In Turkana 
County, drought used to happen 
every 10-15 years, now it happens 
every 2-3 years. Because of historic 

and institutionalised marginalisation, 
communities lack any form of a 
safety net and are knocked back 
further into poverty when shocks like 
a drought hit. 
 
For much of 2019, East Africa - and in 
particular Turkana County - suffered 
from a serious and prolonged 
drought. During a drought, issues 
with absenteeism are compounded: 
Boys typically drop out of school to 
migrate with their animals and girls 
stay at home to carry out domestic 
chores, like water collection. With 

a historic disregard for formal 
education amongst some pastoralist 
communities already an issue, 
drought poses an existential threat 
to young peoples’ future in more 
ways than one.

In times of drought, the distances 
girls walk for water can reach up to 
18km (recorded in Turkana). This 
places girls at a much higher risk of 
Gender-based Violence (GBV) and 
sexual assault. The danger of early 
marriage grows too. Marriage is seen 
as a traditional risk management 
strategy: The dowry the bride’s 
family receive is often substantial 
and reducing the number of mouths 

breadwinners have to feed alleviates 
pressure on the family. In Kajiado, 
Female Genital Mutilation is still 
performed in secret to prepare girls 
for marriage - a further threat to girls 
and women’s safety. 

In October 2019, heavy rains fell in 
East Africa – devastating many of 
the communities Aidlink works with. 
Flash floods often follow drought, 
as parched earth is unable to absorb 
the sudden influx of water. Turkana 
County was hit by severe flash floods 
that wiped out many homes and 
villages, farms and livestock. 1,326 
people were displaced. 
 

An invasion of locusts hit Kenya in 
January 2020. The worst infestation 
in 70 years, locusts destroyed 
farmland and threatened already 
vulnerable populations with crippling 
hunger. Unseasonal weather in May 
and June of 2020 led to a second 
infestation, as rains allowed the 
pests to breed rapidly and spread 
across large swaths of East Africa 
and into the Middle East. Pastoralist 
communities in Turkana were among 
those most impacted. Some initial 
reports suggested that 2,500 sq km 
of crop damage was done in Kenya 
alone.

€
€445,993 spent in 2019 delivering 
programmes to some of the most 
vulnerable people in Kenya

10,130 people helped  
in Kenya in 2019

49% of people helped  
in Kenya in 2019 were women

€ €31,744 spent in 2019 delivering 
programmes in Ghana

1,850 school children helped in 
Ghana in 2019

Aidlink continues to maintain a
close, unique partnership with 
the Spiritan Province, Ghana who 
co- host and support the Aidlink 
– St. Mary’s College, Rathmines 
Immersion Programme. 

Funds raised by the St. Mary’s 
College community are directed 
towards education projects on a 
project-by-project basis. The Ghana 
2019 project funds are allocated to 
St. Anthony’s Primary and Junior 
Secondary Schools, Bantama, St. 
James’ Senior Secondary School, 

GHANA

Sunyani, and Bemcom Youth 
Enterprises, Techiman.
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For hundreds of years, people in 
Karamoja have lived transitory lives. 
Traditionally nomadic pastoralists 
who rely on being able to move their 
animals around, the insurgence 
led by Joseph Kony and the Lord’s 
Resistance Army forced many 
Karmajong from their traditional 
homeland and into government 
protected camps. When the conflict 
ended, the Karmajong tried to move 
home, returning to an unfamiliar and 
overgrown land with few possessions 
to restart their lives. These 
struggles have been compounded by 
environmental, socio-economic and 
political challenges. Deforestation, 
poor land management and 
changing weather patterns 
exacerbate challenges with lack of 
infrastructure, marginalisation, and 
discrimination linked to the nomadic 
lifestyle of the Karamojong.

As a result, Karamoja is Uganda’s 
poorest region with 68% of the 
population living below the poverty 
line compared to 19.5% of people in 
Uganda as a whole. 

As a result of neglect in Karamoja, 
there is almost no infrastructure 
or public services - roads, health 

Aidlink
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UGANDA

€
€85,875 spent in 2019 delivering 
programmes to some of the most 
vulnerable people in Uganda

3,020 people helped in Uganda in 
2019

51% of people helped in Uganda in 
2019 were women

centres, public schools. Limited 
access to mobile phones and radios, 
and little interaction with “outsiders” 
means people here have truly 
been left behind. Only 50% of the 
population currently have access to 
clean, safe water within 5km, 61% 
of people are illiterate, and 46% 
of children under the age of 5 are 
stunted as a result of malnutrition 
(World Food Programme). 
  
Karamoja was hit by the ongoing 
effects of climate change: early 2019 
saw long periods of drought while 
late 2019 saw periods of heavy rain 
and flooding.

During the drought, families were 
forced to leave their land to find 
water and tend to their animals. 
This compounded the issue of child 
absenteeism from school, putting 
children in a vulnerable position and 
putting girls at a higher risk of GBV 
and early marriage. Absenteeism 
from school can also be attributed 
to a lack of school infrastructure 
and cultural attitudes to formal 
education.

In August 2019, heavy rain 
began falling in Karamoja. The 

unprecedented level of water made 
travel in the area extremely difficult 
and further isolated communities 
in Napak District, Karamoja. Heavy 
rain continued throughout the 
rest of 2019 and into 2020. This 
rain delayed some of Aidlink’s 
construction work, especially the 
digging of pits for latrines and the 
drilling of boreholes. 

In September 2019, Kenya 
and Uganda signed an MOU to 
facilitate peaceful coexistence 
between communities in Karamoja, 
Uganda and Turkana and West 
Pokot, Kenya. Karamoja has been 
subject to conflict in the past as 
communities from the resource-dry 
lands of Turkana and West Pokot 
travel across the border in order 
to find pasture and water for their 
animals. The MOU aims to reduce 
violence amongst communities, 
and to provide better opportunities 
for cooperation, coordination and 
coexistence. The MOU also puts 
the onus on local governments to 
develop rapid response mechanisms 
for disasters.  It has also allowed 
students from both communities to 
cross the border to attend school.
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2019 was both a challenging and 
successful and rewarding year 
for Aidlink. Despite the ongoing 
struggle to raise sufficient funding, 
we achieved highly positive short 
term and long term outcomes for the 
communities we serve in Africa and 
in Ireland. You will find information 
on what we achieved in this Annual 
Report.
 
Many people need to be thanked 
for their support in fundraising and 
much more:

• Irish Aid, with whom 2019 was 
year 2 of a three-year development 
programme in Kenya

• Employees of Irish companies who 
donated valuable funding from 
their pay (Bank of Ireland, Electric 
Aid, SHARP, RTE, Dublin City 
Council, Irish National Teachers 
Organisation) 

• The teachers, parents, children, 
friends and supporters of the 
schools that participate in Aidlink 

Immersion programmes to Africa - St 
Joseph’s Secondary School, Rush, St 
Mary’s College, Rathmines, Loreto 
High School, Beaufort, Blackrock 
College

• The choirs and supporters of ‘Aidlink 
for Turkana’ in the National Stadium 
on another brilliant music night

• Those who supported us on ‘Walk 
for Water’ and the Women’s Mini 

Marathon

To all those who believed in us 
enough to entrust us with their hard-
earned money, thank you. We believe 
we have put your trust to good use, 
and that your community and our 
partner communities in Africa will 
both be better because of what 
you’ve done. As we move forward in 
2020 and beyond, we will need your 
support more than ever.
 
The Board of Aidlink continues 
to strive to be more effective in 
supporting the organisation. We 
received the Leinster Society 

Published Accounts Award for 
the third year in a row, which is 
very pleasing, and a credit to those 
staff and Directors who have 
maintained our standards. In 2019 
we reviewed the organisation’s 
strategy in detail, with the Aidlink 
team, and committed to review our 
strategic progress regularly at Board 
meetings, including having a further 
‘strategy day’ in 2020. 

Board members also continue to 
contribute to Aidlink outside of 
Board Meetings, in a variety of 
ways including programme support, 
fundraising, website, enhanced 
information systems and much more. 
Individuals have also offered their 
professional advice and assistance 
‘pro bono’ or assisted Aidlink in other 
ways. To all of you, and to the Aidlink 
management and staff, many thanks.
 
Given what has happened in 2020 
with the coronavirus pandemic, 
2019 seems quite distant now, as so 
many unprecedented things have 

Aidlink

happened since then. However, it has 
also demonstrated more clearly how 
interconnected world communities 
are, and that we are one human 
family. 
 
It has also demonstrated the 
value and flexibility of Aidlink’s 
model. When lockdown and travel 
restrictions occurred in Kenya and 
Uganda, we were able to pivot our 
programmes, in consultation with 
our partners, local government and 
communities, to immediately begin 
dealing with the community’s needs 
in the new situation: We mounted 
information campaigns, equipped 
communities with the tools they need 
to protect themselves and provided 
emergency food and sanitation 
supplies to families who need it most.
 
Each of these measures has reached 
and supported large numbers of 
people; however, the pandemic 
impacts in our African communities 
will be significant because of their 
vulnerability.
 
It is harder now to be sure what the 
future will bring, but rest assured, the 
Board, staff and supporters of Aidlink 
will continue to try and make the 
future brighter for our communities.

John Lynch
Chairperson
Aidlink

MESSAGE FROM 
THE BOARD 
Chairperson John Lynch looks back on 2019 
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Andrew Doran is a 
Sixth Year Student at 
St Joseph’s Secondary 
School, Rush. He 
travelled to Masaka, 
Uganda in June 2019 
as part of the Aidlink 
Immersion Programme.

My name is Andrew Doran and I am 
a 6th year student in St. Joseph’s 
Secondary School in Rush. In June 
2019, I was lucky enough to travel 
to Uganda and take part in an 
immersion project with the Irish 
charity, Aidlink. The immersion 
project was a once in a lifetime 
opportunity and I still treasure it 
as one of the greatest moments 
of my life. I had the opportunity to 
experience new cultures, make new 
friends and I developed a special 
place in my heart for Uganda.

During the immersion project, 
we went to school in Archbishop 
Kiwanuka, I was in a 5th year class. 
I was extremely nervous going 
to the class on my first day. But 
these nerves quickly went, when 
two boys named Ivan and Clinton 
introduced themselves to me and 
ensured that I sat beside them. 
I quickly learned how friendly 
and nice the Ugandan students 
were and they treated me as one 
of their fellow peers. I realised 
how important education is to 
them and that they want to do 
well in their exams. They have 
a lot more pressure than we do 
in Ireland and it has changed my 
perspective on my own schooling.

The Ugandan students taught me 
a lot about their culture. As a twin 
they taught me the different names 
they had for twins, “Bolongu” and 
“Molongu” and also the names for 
the older and younger brother, 
“Wasswa” and “Kato”. From then 
on I was called Kato for the rest 
of my days at school with them. I 
really appreciated the nickname 
as it put me at ease and helped me 
to make friends with my peers.

Each day, I took part in their 
timetabled classes and learned 
how similar the curriculum is in 
secondary schools in Ireland and 
secondary schools in Uganda. 
Ugandans are very passionate 
about their education and 
this passion rubbed off on me, 
especially in my final year of school. 
Because of this, I really focused 
throughout sixth year and put 
a lot of work into my work and 
studying to ensure I could do the 
best in my exams, and I have my 
friends from Uganda to thank.

I learned so much through this 
immersion project about Uganda, 
the people and also about myself. 
I tried new foods, conversed 
with everyone I met and got to 
experience life in such a beautiful 
place. I looked forward to every 
day and what it had in store for me. 
Since my return, I get asked the 
question; “How was Uganda?”, I find 
myself giving the same answer, “I 
would go back tomorrow”. And the 
truth is I would go back tomorrow. 
I would do anything for a chance 
to go back there in the future as 
it is a place I will never forget.

The trip meant so much to me 
and I’m glad I had the opportunity 
to be a part of it and experience 
the most amazing place and meet 
the most extraordinary people. 

IMMERSION SPOTLIGHT:

ANDREW’S STORY

Immersion 
Programmes are a 
type of Development 
Education. By giving 
first-hand experiences 
of a different way of life, 
these programmes aim 
to increase awareness 
and understanding of 
the challenges people 
face in extreme poverty. 
We support Irish 
communities to engage 
with global citizenry 
through Immersion 
programmes, Walk for 
Water and
developmenteducation.ie

Aidlink spent 
€120,692 on 
Development 
Education in 
2019
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PROGRAMME
OVERVIEW

In 2019, Aidlink reached 
approximately 15,000 of the  
world’s poorest and most 
vulnerable people. We 
spent €563,612 to deliver 
life-changing programmes 
that educate, empower and 
enable communities.  

Gender  
Equality

€208,839 spent
12,947 people  
supported

Education

€229,964 spent

8,553 people   
supported

Livelihoods

€60,848 spent

2,824 people   
supported

Emergencies

€63,961 spent
9,812 people  
supported

19
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GENDER 
EQUALITY

In 2019, Aidlink supported 22 
schools to become more child-
friendly and gender-sensitive, 
reaching 5,793 vulnerable children 
in Kajiado, Turkana and Karamoja. 

Schools that have water and 
sanitation facilities draw children 
in and encourage them to attend. 
They incentivise enrolling in, and 
attending school, particularly for 
girls. In Kenya, gender-sensitive 
and disability friendly latrines 
were constructed in 14 schools (six 
in Turkana and eight in Kajiado) 

last year. In six of these school 
communities, water tanks were also 
installed (four in Turkana and two 
in Kajiado). Complementing this 
effort, our Community Facilitators 
identified 540 out-of-school 
children and supported 281 children 
to return to school. More than 
half of these children were girls. 

 640 children across Aidlink’s 16 
target schools in Kenya (eight in 
Turkana and eight in Kajiado) joined 
Rights of the Child (RoC) Clubs. 
Club members were trained on 

child rights, with protection and 
gender equality key components 
of these lessons. Children were 
also trained in life skills, like 
reproductive health and hygiene 
and sanitation. Knowledge of child 
rights enables children to recognise 
harmful cultural practices such as 
early marriage and Female Genital 
Mutilation and to be empowered 
to do something about them. 

In 2019, Aidlink oversaw more 
children with disabilities being 
included in RoC Clubs.

PROGRAMME OVERVIEW: 
GENDER EQUALITY

Thirty-eight teachers across Aidlink’s 
target schools in Kenya were trained 
in child rights, including gender and 
disability-responsive pedagogy, 
participation and inclusion. 

In Uganda, Aidlink supported 
three schools - approximately 850 
children - with improved access 
to clean, safe water through the 
drilling of boreholes. Two of these 
communities also received gender-
sensitive and disability-friendly 
latrine blocks. This increased 
enrolment of girls in school.

47 (11 female and 36 male) 
community gatekeepers were trained 
in human rights and legal frameworks 
(with a particular focus on protecting 
women, girls and people with 
disabilities). The same community 
gatekeepers were sensitised on the 
impact of harmful social norms on 
education, particularly for girls and 
children with disabilities.

 
Over 7,000 community members in 
Turkana and Kajiado participated in 
monthly community conversations to 
combat harmful social norms.
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Aidlink works with 16 schools in 
Kenya (4,093 children), all of which 
now rank ‘Satisfactory’ or above 
on UNICEF’s Child-Friendly School 
Monitoring Tool. 
 
In 2019, Aidlink supported 850 
students in Karamoja with improved 
water and sanitation facilities and 
three schools in Karamoja with 
school gardens. 6,726 children in 
Turkana were provided with daily 
meals during exam periods to reduce 
stress on families in periods of high 
food insecurity, including drought 
and flooding. 
 
We trained 31 members of Boards 
of Management and 16 teachers 
in Kenya in policies and legal 
frameworks and assisted 16 schools 
in developing child-centred School 
Development Plans. In four schools, 
the Boards of Management have 
now engaged with local government 
to construct fences, classrooms 
and purchase learning materials for 
their schools. This not only shows 
increased capacity amongst the 
Boards of Management but also 
shows changing attitudes towards 
education.
 
Due to the increasing threat of 
climate change and because hunger 
is one of the main barriers to school 
for children, Aidlink is committed to 

developing farms that can provide 
sustainable meals for students. 
In 2019, we developed 11 school 
gardens in Kenya (8 in Turkana 
and 3 in Kajiado) and three school 
gardens in Karamoja, Uganda. 
School gardens in Uganda were a 
particular success and produced 
healthy harvests of potatoes, 
green gram and maise. Although 
schools were shut due to Covid-19 
during the harvest season, the 
school gardens succeeded in their 
goal of supporting the community, 
and in particular supporting 
children, during times of high food 
insecurity. 

We supported 30 young adults 
(21 women and nine men) to 
participate in a ‘Back to School’ 
Programme. 29 out of the 30 
students successfully sat their 
Kenya Certificate of Primary 
Education exam and are now 
better placed to progress to 
secondary school and enter the 
workforce.

Our work also touches the wider 
community: Last year, 7,000 
community members were 
sensitised on the importance of 
education and the dangers of 
harmful cultural practices like 
FGM and early marriage. 

PROGRAMME OVERVIEW: 
EDUCATION

Aidlink works with 
16 schools in Kenya, 
all of which now rank 
‘Satisfactory’ or above on 
Kenya’s Child-Friendly 
School Monitoring Tool.
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Climate change is an existential 
threat to the future of all people, 
but particularly for the marginalised 
groups that we work with. To build 
resilience against the effects of 
climate change, in 2019, Aidlink 
engaged County government 
officials in four community forums 
in Turkana and Kajiado. We reached 
1,213 community members with 

discussions on Disaster Risk 
Reduction strategies. 627 attendees 
were female, and 7,018 community 
members were indirectly reached. 

640 children from Rights of the Child 
Clubs, from across Aidlink’s 16 target 
communities in Kenya, were trained 
in Disaster Risk Reduction too. 
Child-led Disaster Risk Reduction 

initiatives empower children to 
fight the adverse effects of climate 
change and protect their future. 
Club members planted 498 trees to 
offset the impact of climate change 
in this vein.

 48 members of Boards of 
Managements and Community 
Facilitators were trained in Disaster 

Risk Reduction. The trainings 
taught learners how to recognise 
the early warning signs of drought 
and thereafter, how to respond and 
mitigate a drought’s impact. 
 
As part of Aidlink’s holistic strategy 
for the empowerment of girls and 
women, we installed eight water 
tanks in Kenya (six in Turkana and 
two in Kajiado). We drilled three 
boreholes in Karamoja, Uganda, 
resulting in improved access to 
water for 11 target communities, 
approximately 1,820 people. 
Improved access to clean, safe water 
results in less time spent travelling 
to water sources, a task that is 
traditionally given to girls. 
 
In Uganda, 73 farmers’ from 3 
target communities were trained 
in improved agricultural and water 
harvesting techniques and improved 
crop diversification. With this, 
Aidlink’s communities now have the 
necessary skills to create sustainable 
and productive farms and are seeing 
positive yields of potatoes, green 
gram and maise.

In 2019, three 
boreholes were 
drilled in school 
communities in 
Karamoja. These 
three boreholes 
provide more than 
1,820 people with 
improved access to 
cleaner, safer water.  

PROGRAMME OVERVIEW: 
LIVELIHOODS
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The countries we work in are 
susceptible to frequent natural 
disasters and outbreaks of disease, 
resulting in already vulnerable 
people losing their livelihoods and 
pushing families further into poverty. 

During the drought in East-Africa, in 
mid-2019, over one million Kenyans 
were reported to be in danger of 
starvation. To help ease the overflow 
of needs, Aidlink provided daily 
meals in Turkana to 6,726 children 
for three months.
 
During the COVID-19 pandemic, 
Aidlink provided 900 households 
with a daily meal over 3 months. 
Aidlink used established structures 
to deliver food and ensured 
distribution was in line with 
government restrictions. Community 
facilitators took on additional 
coordination duties and helped in the 
dissemination of information. 

In May and June 2020, we 
distributed sanitary pads and 
underwear to 1,650 vulnerable girls 
from 33 schools in Turkana and 
Kajiado Counties. 

Together with our partners, we 
supplied health centres with 
essential personal protective 
equipment and handwashing 
facilities - handwashing stations 
were installed in Karamoja, Turkana, 
Kajiado and Kibera. 

In partnership with the Ministry 
of Health in Kenya, the National 
Drought Management Authority, 
Kenya, and the Turkana Task Force, 
we mounted information campaigns 
across four counties. We utilised 

various forms of media as well as 
direct door-to-door contact so that 
every family could be empowered 
with the best guidance to protect 
their families against the virus.

As part of Aidlink’s 
Covid-19 response, 
900 households in 
Turkana County 
received daily meals.

STORIES FROM THE FIELD:

LYDIA’S STORY

Keeping girls in school 
is one of the best ways 
to break the cycle 
of poverty. But with 
Covid-19, progress is 
now in trouble.  

Lydia spends most of her time at 
home these days. Coronavirus 
restrictions are strictly 
implemented in Turkana County, 
Kenya, where Lydia lives with her 
siblings and stepmother. The shy 
18-year-old helps out in the house, 
doing the odd job but spends most 
of her time studying. 

Child Protection experts estimate 
that about 1.6 billion children, 
like Lydia, are out of school due to 
Covid-19. While some countries 
are beginning to open up, UNICEF 
warns that millions of the world’s 
most vulnerable children may 
never return to the classroom. 
The pandemic threatens to undo 
the hard-won progress for girls’ 
education and could set the fight 
for gender equality back decades.
In their framework for safely 
reopening schools, UNICEF state: 
“Being out of school increases 
the risk of teenage pregnancy, 
sexual exploitation, child marriage, 
violence and other threats. “

“There were challenges for girls 
to go to school. You know, in our 
community, they take a girl as a 
source of income because she can 
be married,” Lydia’s stepmother, 
Lomali Sara says. 

Aidlink has been working to 
address the root causes that 
keep girls from attending school 
in Turkana County since 2017. 
Through partner, Girl Child 
Network (GCN), Aidlink has 
mounted grassroots’ information 
campaigns to educate communities 
on the importance of education 
for girls. While the construction of 
inclusive toilets means a period is 
not a reason for children and young 
women to stay at home. “During 
that time when the girl has her 
period, she’ll go where there’s a lot 
of sand. She takes a lot of showers,” 
explains mother Lomali Sara.

Aidlink’s school feeding programme 
is another pull factor. “Whenever 
they know there is food at school 
they go to school,” says Jerry 
Ekimwomwor, a field officer for 
GCN in Turkana.

It’s working too. In 2019 alone, 
Aidlink supported 5,793 children to 
stay in school and helped another 
147 girls enrol for the first time. 

“The community are very happy; it 
makes a difference. Our children 
have something to eat, they go 
to school, and they can eat,” says 
Lomali Sara. “We now know the 
importance of girls going to school. 
We hope and trust she (Lydia) will 
get a job and help to support us.”

There are a host of different 
reasons that cause girls to drop 
out of school or to never enrol in 
the first place, but for the girls in 
Aidlink supported districts like 
Turkana, there are now fewer. 

It’s a fragile win, though. The 
United Nations Population Fund 
estimates that Covid-19 “is likely 
to have a significant impact on the 
implementation of interventions to 
reduce child marriage, in particular 
as a result of the social distancing 
requirements implemented in many 
countries.” 

Further, the pandemic induced 
economic downturn is expected 
to push vulnerable families deeper 
into poverty, leaving girls exposed 
to archaic cultural practices. 
“Should the reduction in GDP 
per capita be 10 per cent, then an 
estimated 5.6 million additional 
child marriages are likely to take 
place between 2020 and 2030.”

“When the family is not able… you 
know, they (girls) normally work,” 
Lomali Sara concedes. 

For now, Lydia has her sights set on 
becoming a doctor. Like many girls 
her age who have made it so far in 
school, she has a strong belief in the 
power of education to break her 
out of poverty.

PROGRAMME OVERVIEW: 
EMERGENCIES
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Aidlink works with local partners 
to support communities in Kenya 
and Uganda, with a focus on gender 
equality, education and sustainable 
livelihoods. Aidlink empowers 
communities to take greater control 
over their lives and livelihoods. Our 
teams are on the ground, supporting 
the world’s poorest people and 
increasing the resilience of the 
marginalised.

Aidlink works collaboratively, both at 
home and abroad, to ensure lasting 
change for the people that we serve. 
We believe in grassroots solutions. 
We partner with Civil Society 
Organisations overseas to improve 
the lives of girls and their families. 
Through our work with local groups, 
we harness local knowledge and 
resources to support communities 
and encourage local ownership over 
projects to guarantee sustainability. 
Together we ensure communities 
are heard and that solutions support 
families to take greater control over 
their lives.

• We support gender equality by 
improving access to education for 
girls, and by strengthening health 
and human rights education among 
civil society groups. 

• We support livelihoods by providing 
communities with the resources, 
skills and knowledge that they need 
to thrive. 

• We support families during an 
emergency by delivering life-saving 
protective equipment, food and 
water and through providing access 
to sanitation and information. 

For over 35 years, Aidlink has worked 
through partnership, forging relationships 
with local organisations and building their 
capacity to become development leaders.

Girl Child Network (GCN)
GCN is a Child’s Rights organisation working to improve the 
lives of all children, with a special focus on the rights of girls. 
Aidlink and GCN have worked together on education and 
girls’ empowerment programmes in Kajiado and Turkana 
Counties, Kenya since 2003. 

Voluntary Action for Development
VAD is a non-profit, civil society organisation working to 
improve the lives of those living in poverty in Uganda. VAD 
and Aidlink have successfully worked together on water, 

sanitation and agriculture programmes since 2003.

Caritas MADDO
Caritas MADDO is the development office of the Diocese 
of Rakai and Masaka in South West Uganda. Focusing 
on access to sustainable, safe water and sanitation, and 
improving food security, Aidlink and Caritas MADDO have 

successfully worked together since 2000.

Caritas Lodwar
The development office of the Diocese of Lodwar, serves a 
catchment area of nearly 900,000 nomadic and semi-no-
madic pastoralists in Turkana County, Northern Kenya. 
Aidlink has worked with Caritas Lodwar for almost 20 years 
supporting health, water and adult literacy programmes.

Amani Kibera
A youth-led, community-based organisation that has 
worked in the Kibera informal settlements since 2007. The 
organisation focuses on social justice through mobilising 
and organising youth participation in peace building, conflict 
management, and health awareness.

The Congregation of the 
Holy Spirit Ghana
Focusing primarily on education programmes, they play a 
crucial role in Aidlink’s Development Education Programme, 
having hosted the Aidlink Immersion Programme to Ghana 
over the past 16 years.

HOW WE 
WORK

LOOKING TO 
THE FUTURE
The Covid-19 pandemic has 
significantly impacted children all 
over the world, none more so than in 
Africa. 

School closures have not only 
interrupted learning but have 
left girls open to sexual violence.  
Lockdown poverty has forced 
desperate families to marry off 
under-age daughters to ease 
expenses, with increasing numbers 
of girls undergoing FGM as 
communities return to traditional 
customs.  

Despite this, Aidlink’s programmes 
have been able to continue, and 
that is due to our emphasis on 
localisation. We have prioritised, 
cultivated, and managed 
partnerships in the communities 
and the countries that we work in. 
Our trust in local knowledge and the 
relationships and systems where 
we work, in Kenya and Uganda, not 
only allowed us to continue our 
programmes as planned but also 
allowed us to quickly respond to the 
immediate needs of the communities 
when the coronavirus first reached 
East Africa. 

Through our partners, we provided 
households with a daily meal over 
three months using established 
structures. Community facilitators 
took on additional duties and 
helped in the dissemination of 
information. We distributed sanitary 
pads and underwear to vulnerable 
girls and supplied health centres 

Anne Cleary
Chief Executive Officer
Aidlink
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with essential personal protective 
equipment and handwashing 
facilities. 

We are greatly concerned that 
progress made to date regarding 
the rights of children, particularly 
girls, will be lost.  Looking to the 
future, our primary focus is to 
protect the most vulnerable, and 
support communities to reinforce or 
rebuild their livelihoods in the post-
pandemic period.
 
Immediate plans for Kenya and 
Uganda include supporting our 
partners, school leadership, and 
communities to reopen schools 
safely. A school is a place of safety 
for girls. We plan to provide care 
packages that will add much-needed 
nutrition to diets and support girls, 
particularly pregnant and young 
mothers, to ensure that all children 
get the opportunity to return to 
school and reach their full potential.
 
Aidlink believes in building back 
better - much of our programmes are 
dedicated to enabling the youth of 
today to ensure a better tomorrow - 
but we have not forgotten the wider 
community. We are committed to 
bettering livelihoods; providing 
the skills and tools necessary for 
sustainable work. 

We wish all our partner schools 
a safe and happy year and look 
forward to finding new and exciting 
opportunities to help students 
learn and participate in the Global 

Sustainable Development agenda.
 
Our plans are tempered and will 
be dependent on support from our 
tremendous donors and supporters. 
We are immensely grateful to you all. 
The people we serve will need your 
help more than ever. 

Our challenge now is to ensure 
that we can continue to operate, 
support our partners and deliver for 
vulnerable communities in Africa 
who have been so adversely affected 
by this pandemic.
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STRUCTURE, 
GOVERNANCE 
AND MANAGEMENT
Aidlink is a small charity with a big 
impact. There are three full-time 
staff in our headquarters in Dublin, 
with oversight from Aidlink’s Board 
of Directors. 

Our work is guided by strictly 
adhered to codes and policies. They 
shape our organisation to ensure 
that we stay true to our values.

Aidlink has proven a sustained 
commitment to a high standard of 
good governance, accountability and 
transparency. For five consecutive 
years, Aidlink has been shortlisted 
for awards, winning the Leinster 
Society’s Published Accounts 
Award for the last three years and 
the Carmichael Centre’s Good 
Governance Awards in 2017 and 
2018.

AIDLINK’S BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Aidlink’s Board is committed to 
upholding the highest standards of 
corporate governance and ensuring 
Aidlink successfully delivers its 
mission, setting its strategic direction 
and upholding its core values 
through leadership and financial 
oversight.
 

Aidlink’s 2019 Board consisted of 
12 directors (4 women and 8 men). 
They met 9 times to ensure the 
organisation continues on its path of 
optimum operational effectiveness. 

Directors serve a term of three years, 
which is renewable up to a maximum 
of nine years. 

The Board of Directors is 
composed of five sub-committees: 
The Audit and Risk Committee; 
The Remuneration Committee; 
Nominations and Governance 
Committee; The Programmes 
Committee; and Fundraising 
Committee.

Board of Directors at the date of 
approval of financial statements 
were as follows:

• Mr John Lynch 
Chairperson 
John is CEO at SelfSense 
Technologies, and also works 
as a Non-executive Director, 
business consultant and mentor. 
Previously he was CEO at Merrion 
Pharmaceuticals plc and has worked 
in the USA, UK and Ireland. 
 

• Mr. Brendan Feehan 
Secretary 
Brendan teaches accounting and 
economics in St Mary’s College, 
Rathmines and is President Emeritus 
of Cistercian College, Roscrea. 
Brendan has participated in several 
immersion programmes and is 
currently completing a doctorate in 
the Institute of Education, DCU.

• Mr. Liam Byrne 
Treasurer 
Liam was educated at UCD and 
qualified with PwC. Prior to co-
founding his own firm a number of 
years ago, he worked in a number of 
finance roles in New Zealand, the US, 
France, England and Ireland.

• Mr. Eoghan Caffrey 
Director 
Eoghan is a Policy Specialist at the 
Central Bank of Ireland. He holds 
a Masters in Development Studies 
and before joining the Central 
Bank, spent 5 years working in 
International Development on 
programmes spanning urban and 
rural Africa and Asia. 

• Ms. Marion Shaw 
Director 
Marion is a qualified HR professional 
and business & executive coach 
with extensive leadership and 

management development 
experience working in an 
international organisation in the 
private sector. She has previously 
spent some time working in Africa

• Mr. Brian Ingarfield 
Director 
Brian is an experienced general 
manager having previously occupied 
leadership roles in technology, 
travel, logistics, retail and franchised 
businesses in Ireland, UK, Spain 
and Italy. Brian holds a Masters in 
Business from the Irish Management 
Institute.

• Mr. Sean Crowe 
Director 
Sean is a Chief Executive of Markets 
and Treasury at Bank of Ireland 
where he has also held the positions 
of Group Treasurer, Head of Markets 
for Global Markets and Managing 
Director for Fixed Income Property 
and has been a member of the Group 

Executive Committee since 2014. 
Sean is a Director of New Ireland 
Assurance Company plc and of Bank 
of Ireland Mortgage Bank and is a 
member of the CFA Institute.

 
• Mr. Ciarán Ó Muirthile 

Director 
Ciaran is a senior manager at Google 
Ireland, where he is currently 
heading up the New Customer 
Onboarding team for Europe, the 
Middle East and Africa. He has 
worked at Google in Ireland and 
abroad for 14 years in a variety of 
advertising and marketing roles. He 
holds a B.A. International from UCD 
and a Higher Diploma in Business 
Enterprise from DCU.

 
• Ms. Margaret O’Donohue 

Director 
Margaret has worked in education 
for the last 30 years in a range of 
roles; teacher, guidance counsellor, 
Deputy Principal and until 2019, 

ATTENDANCE AT BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETINGS

Name Appointed Attendance

John Lynch 2017 9/9

Brendan Feehan 2014 7/9

Liam Byrne 2014 8/9

Eoghan Caffrey 2017 6/9

Marion Shaw 2015 7/9

Brian Ingarfield 2017 6/9

Sean Crowe 2018 7/9

Ciarán Ó Muirthile 2019 6/8

Margaret O’Donohue 2019 1/1

Dr. Philip Owende* 2009 4/5

Meadhbh McCann* 2015 2/5

Marie Moynihan* 2017 3/5

Principal of Loreto High School, 
Beaufort. She very much enjoyed 
two immersion trips to Uganda with 
Aidlink and the girls from Beaufort. 
She is currently working for iScoil, an 
educational provision for teenagers 
who can’t manage mainstream 
education.

 AIDLINK’S MEMBERS

Aidlink’s Members protect the 
organisation’s core ethos and 
philosophy. They meet just once a 
year at Aidlink’s Annual General 
Meeting. In 2019, the meeting was 
held on September 5th.

Membership is for a seven-year term, 
which may be renewed or extended 
at the invitation of the board.

*retired
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FUNDRAISING
From running marathons to 
organising concerts, our volunteers’ 
support is what makes Aidlink 
possible. From everyone at Aidlink – 
thank you.

Aidlink for Turkana

Aidlink for Turkana is our biggest 
event of the year: Choirs and a host 
of Irish singer-songwriters come 
together to perform in aid of Aidlink.
 
So successful have previous years 
been that for 2019, the Aidlink for 
Turkana gig was moved to a bigger 
venue, the National Stadium. Seats 
were filled and it was a riotous 
success. We couldn’t have been 
happier. 

Singers performing on the night 
included: Ailbhe Reddy, Blaithin 
Kearney, Cry Monster Cry, Davy 
Lyons, Dermot Lambert (Blink), 
Eleanor McEvoy, Inni-K, Jerry Fish, 
Muireann, The Pale, Ruth Mac, The 
Silken Same, Stockton’s Wing and 
Ultan Conlon.
 
They sang alongside choirs: 
Bank Of Ireland Bank Notes, 
Blackrock College Libermann Choir, 
Central Bank Bank Notes,  Eirgrid- 
Transmission Amps, EY Choir, Life 
Choir, Loreto High School Beaufort, 
Loreto Dalkey Past Pupils Parents 
Choir, Mezzo Choir, Primark, 
SOLAS, St. Joseph’s, St Mary’s 
College Singers, and the Wicklow 
Community Choir.

Aidlink Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019
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DIRECTORS’ 
REPORT

FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED  
31 DECEMBER 2019

The Directors present their annual 
report and the audited financial 
statements of Aidlink for the 
financial year ended 31 December 
2019. This report presents the 
information and disclosures required 
by a Directors’ Report under the 
Companies Act 2014, together with 
additional information required 
by the Charities Statement of 
Recommended Practice applicable 
to charities preparing their accounts 
in accordance with the Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in 
the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 
102) (effective March   2018).

WHO WE ARE 

Aidlink is a company limited by 
guarantee, not having a share 
capital, incorporated in Ireland in 
1982 under the Companies Act 
and registered in Ireland with 
registration No. 124133. Every 
member of Aidlink undertakes, if 
necessary, on a winding-up during 
the time they are a member or 
within one year after they cease to 
be a member, to contribute to the 
assets of Aidlink an amount not 
exceeding €1.27. Aidlink’s governing 
document is its Memorandum 
and Articles of Association.

Under the provision of Section 
1180 of the Companies Act, 2014, 
Aidlink is exempt from including 
‘company limited by guarantee’ in 
its name.

Aidlink is a charity registered 
with the Charities Regulatory 
Authority, registered charity No: 
20022730, and has been granted 
tax exemption by the Revenue 
Commissioners in Ireland, 
registered charitable taxation No: 
CHY 9078.

REFERENCE AND 
ADMINISTRATIVE DETAIL

Registered office:  
34 Greenmount Office Park, 
Harold’s Cross, Dublin 6W, D6W 
CX81

Our advisers
Auditors: 
Deloitte Ireland LLP, Chartered 
Accountants and Statutory Audit 
Firm, Deloitte & Touche House, 
Earlsfort Terrace, Dublin 2, D02 
AY28
Solicitors: 
Arthur Cox, Earlsfort Centre, Ten 
Earlsfort Terrace, Dublin 2, D02 
T380

Bankers: 
Bank of Ireland, 28 Main Street, 
Blackrock, Co Dublin, A94 D890

Directors The Directors serving during the year and since the year-end were as follows:

Remuneration & Director’s 
Performance Committee

John Lynch 
Chairman

Audit & Risk Committee Liam Byrne  
Treasurer

Brendan Feehan 
Company Secretary

Nominations and 
Governance Committee Brian Ingarfield Philip Owende 

resigned 11 September 2019

Programme Committee Eoghan Caffrey Meadhbh McCann 
resigned 11 November 2019

Fundraising Subcommittee Sean Crowe Margaret O’Donoghue  
appointed 12 December 2019

Marion Shaw

Contd. Ciaran Ó Muirthile  
appointed 9 April 2019

Marie Moynihan  
resigned 19 November 2019

Aidlink exists to improve the lives 
of those living in poverty in Africa 
by empowering local partners and 
communities to take charge of their 
development and achieve healthy 
and fulfilling lives.

Our programmes aim to deliver 
lasting change. By listening to the 
voices of communities, and through 
our partnerships, we work to address 
the structural causes of inequality 
and poverty. We believe that by 
putting the furthest behind first – 
often girls – we can support entire 
communities’ growth; supporting 
and strengthening African NGOs to 
enable them to take a leading role in 
tackling the issues they are facing.

Our programmes focus on:

Gender Equality 

Aidlink and our partners are working 
to address the barriers that keep 
girls from flourishing in society. We 
are working to promote gender 
sensitivity and further rights-based 
education in communities. Students, 
teachers and Boards of Management 
are being trained to support a 
child-friendly learning environment; 
communities have been sensitised on 
the harm of cultural practices such 
as early marriage and Female Genital 
Mutilation. 

Education 

Aidlink works to remove some 
of the obstacles that prevent 
children from going to school and to 
increase enrolment, retention and 
performance in schools where we 
work. We provide access to water 
on school grounds, build inclusive 
latrines with disability access and 
handwashing facilities, as well 

as changing rooms for girls. We 
provide school meals to thousands 
of children, so that hunger is not a 
reason to miss class; we sensitise 
communities on the value of 
education and the harm of archaic 
cultural practices.

Livelihoods 

Aidlink works to support families 
to develop sustainable agricultural 
practices. We work with pastoral 
communities, smallholder farming 
families and more, to ensure that 
they have the knowledge to produce 
and use plants for food, fuel and land 
restoration. We deliver training on 
business management, nutrition and 
finance, as well as other skills key to 
sustainable agriculture.

Emergencies 

One of our strengths at Aidlink is 
our partnerships. In times of crisis, 
together with our partners, we 
respond to the needs of the most 
vulnerable and provide a range of 
support to affected communities: 
food; clean drinking water; 
sanitation; necessary healthcare 
materials; and access to information.

The impact of Aidlink’s work is 
measured against targets using a 
Results-Based Management system 
and assessed against Aidlink’s 
Strategic Plan, and benchmarks 
agreed with Irish Aid. Regular 
monitoring and evaluation are 
carried out by both local partners 
and Aidlink staff.

The on-granting of funds to local 
partners is subject to annual 
project agreements with each 
local partner. Partners implement 
Aidlink’s programme at the local 

level, ensuring community-led 
interventions, the sustainability of 
the programme, and delivering the 
best value for money for both donors 
and beneficiaries.

Aidlink’s 2019 expenditure on 
Charitable Activities, including 
on-granted funds, development 
education activities and the 
relevant support costs, amounted 
to €684,304 (2018: €701,907), 
95% (2018: 95%) of Aidlink’s total 
expenditure for the year. A total 
of €430,030 (2018: €353,934) of 
expenditure on Charitable Activities, 
was on- granted to partners in 
Kenya, Uganda and Ghana to 
deliver programme activities at 
the local level. A further €120,692 
(2018: €212,471) of expenditure 
on Charitable Activities relates to 
Aidlink’s development education 
activities, including two education-
based immersion programmes; one 
from Ireland to Kenya and one from 
Ireland to Uganda.

OBJECTIVES AND ACTIVITIES

Key management Personnel: 
Directors of the company and the 
Chief Executive Officer

The Directors serving during the 
year and since the year-end were as 
follows: 
Liam Byrne1 (Treasurer), Eoghan 
Caffrey4, Sean Crowe5, Brendan 
Feehan1 (Company Secretary), Ciaran 
Ó Muirthile (appointed 9 April 
2019), Brian Ingarfield3 , John Lynch2 
(Chairman), Meadhbh McCann4 
(resigned 11 November 2019), Marie 
Moynihan (resigned 19 November 
2019), Margaret O’Donoghue5 
(appointed 12 December 2019), 
Philip Owende3 (resigned 11 
November 2019), Marion Shaw5

Chief Executive Officer: 
Anne Cleary

Committees of the Board
1 Member of the Audit and Risk 
Committee

2 Member of the Remuneration and 
Director’s Performance Committee

3 Member of the Nominations and 
Governance Committee

4 Member of the Programme Committee

5 Member of the Fundraising 
Subcommittee
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In 2019 Aidlink remained focused 
on the poorest and most excluded 
communities in Kenya and Uganda, 
particularly girls and women from 
the nomadic pastoralists the Masai 
and the Turkana community (Kenya) 
and the Karamojong (Uganda). The 
Irish Aid Civil Society Fund grant 
of €310,000, supported the Kenya 
Inclusive Quality Education Project 
(KIQEP) in Kajiado and Turkana 
Counties, Kenya, this being year two 
of a three-year contract.

Irish Aid funding carries significant 
restrictions and conditions. 
These include the requirement 
to contribute 30% to the Kenya 
Inclusive Quality Education Project 
from Aidlink’s own resources. Irish 
Aid recognises that the KIQEP 
entails significant inputs from the 
Dublin office and these costs are 
considered to be part of Aidlink’s 
KIQEP contribution.

In line with Aidlink’s commitment 
to women and children and the 
positive results achieved through 
our partnership, since 2003, the 
Girl Child Network remains our 
key partner in the implementation 
of the Kenya Inclusive Quality 
Education Project supported by 
Irish Aid’s Civil Society Fund. In 
2019, this programme reached an 
additional 16 schools (8 in Kajiado 
and 8 in Turkana counties) bringing 
the cumulative total over 2 years 
to 33 schools. This programme is 
contributing to better educational 
outcomes for girls in targeted 
communities in Kenya. Aidlink’s 
engagement with communities in 
Karamoja, Uganda were met by our 
long-standing partner Voluntary 
Action for Development with the 
funding support of Foundations, 

Trusts and Companies. Fundraised 
income in relation to St Mary’s 
College Immersion to Ghana 2018 
was directed to education projects in 
Ghana.

Key elements of the 2019 
programme of work included:

• The expansion of the Kenya Inclusive 
Quality Education programme to 
16 new schools with a population of 
approximately 4,093 children, and 
their families.

• The Karamoja Community 
Development programme in 6 
communities reaching 3,900 people. 

• Two education-based immersion 
programmes linking Irish Partner 
schools with communities in Kenya 

and Uganda. 

Due to the timing of receipt of the 
Irish Aid grant (August 2019), the full 
extent of the impact of Aidlink’s 2019 
programme is yet to be realised; 
achievements to date include: 

Gender equality 

• 14 girl and disability-friendly latrine 
blocks in public primary schools (6 
Turkana; 8 Kajiado) 

• Six water tanks (4 Turkana; 2 
Kajiado) in schools  

• Two girl and disability-friendly 
latrine blocks in community primary 
schools Karamoja 

• Aidlink partners engaged with 
local and national governments 
to demand better policy and 
service provision on issues such 
as education, access to water and 

drought mitigation. 

Education 

• 22 primary schools (16 Kenya & 
6 Uganda) supported in creating 
a more child-friendly and gender-
sensitive school for more than 4,093 
students.

• 6,726 students (3,240 girls and 
3,486 boys) received school lunches.

• 14 school farms established 8 
in Turkana; 3 Kajiado and 3 in 
Karamojo

• 54 students and their teachers 
travelled to Kenya and Uganda 
as part of an education-based 
Immersion programme. They 
demonstrated significant learning 
in knowledge, values and attitudes, 
skills and action including teamwork 

and human rights.

Livelihoods 

• Approximately 1,820 people in 
Karamoja have access to cleaner, 
safer water following the successful 
drilling of 3 boreholes. 

• 582 people were trained in Disaster 
Risk Reduction in Turkana and 
Kajiado, building capacity and 
resilience in adapting to climate 
change and developing knowledge 
and skills in drought mitigation 

strategies. 

ACHIEVEMENTS AND PERFORMANCE

The net deficit for the financial 
year was €56,043 (2018: surplus 
€122,988). Total 2019 income of 
€665,065 is down €194,479 on 
2018, reflecting a reduction in 
income from Immersion Programmes 
(2019: €159,377 2018: €322,122). 
This is the result of two scheduled 
immersions programmes taking place 
during the year compared to three 
in 2018. Aidlink was successful in 
drawing down year two (of three) 
of Irish Aid’s Civil Society Fund 
grant of €310,000 per annum 
(2018 – 2021). The conditions of 
this contract mandate that the 
funding be allocated to the Kenya 
Inclusive Quality Education Project 
in Kajiado and Turkana counties. 
This programme was delivered in 
conjunction with our long-term 
partner, the Girl Child Network.

Income from Foundations Trusts and 
Corporate groups (“FTCs”) fell from 
€149,461 in 2018 to €125,376 in 
2019. This source of income remains 
challenging as some corporations 
with ‘staff deduction’ schemes have 
seen their staff numbers fall with a 
subsequent reduction in funds and 
some making the strategic decision 
to focus on the domestic agenda.

Every Euro collected by Aidlink 
comes from the Irish public either 
directly, through membership of 
FTCs or by being taxpayers. The 
Board of Aidlink and Aidlink’s 
partners remain grateful for the 
support of the Irish people.

Immersion costs fell from €212,471 
in 2018 to €120,692 in 2019, while 
expenditure on other charitable 
activities rose from €489,436 to 
€563,612.

Included within expenditure on 
charitable activities and on raising 
funds were support costs of 
€199,241 (2018: €199,925). Support 
costs include all Irish based costs 
on staff, premises and operating 
expenses. These costs are met from 
Aidlink’s unrestricted income.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Irish Aid
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FINANCIAL REVIEW CONTD.

The contract period for the Irish 
Aid Civil Society Fund grant is July 
to June while Aidlink reports on a 
calendar year. While Irish Aid’s total 
funding of €310,000 was received 
during the 2019 calendar year, there 
was a balance of €85,326 included in 
restricted funds at year end. This was 
on-granted in March 2020 as part of 
the final allocation of €96,055 to the 
Kenya Inclusive Quality Education 
project.

Under accounting standards, 
this balance was included in the 
Restricted Income for the year and 
was on- granted to the Girl Child 
Network in March 2020 and will be 
included in the 2020 reports.

Overall the 2019 results record a 
decrease in funds of €56,043. This is 
made up of a reduction in restricted 
funds of €13,288 and a reduction in 
unrestricted funds of €42,755.

Restricted funds at the year-end 
were €165,437. These are funds that 
must be allocated per the donors’ 
wishes.

Reserves
Aidlink defines its reserves as its 
total unrestricted funds. These 
unrestricted reserves represent 
those resources that the company 
can use for any of its charitable 
purposes. The Board aims to 
maintain its total unrestricted 
reserves level at six months head 
office operating costs. This threshold 
has been set following an assessment 
of the following factors:

• The need to provide short term 
protection against downward 
fluctuations in annual incoming 
resources;

• The need to provide long term 
strategic financial support to 
Aidlink’s partners;

• The need to finance unplanned 
projects where the need arises; and

• The need to provide a financial 
cushion in the event of extreme 
circumstances affecting the 
company’s ability to operate.

At the end of the year, Aidlink’s 
total funds were €373,993 of which 
€165,437 were restricted funds and 
€208,556 were unrestricted funds. 
Unrestricted funds, considered 
Aidlink’s reserve funds, exceed 
Aidlink’s six- month reserve policy, 
representing approximately 12 
months of operating costs.
In response to uncertainty on future 
funding, the Directors decided in 
2017 to transfer €150,000 of Aidlink 
unrestricted funds to a designated 
reserve to meet unanticipated 
funding shortfalls. These reserve 
funds remained in place at the 
year-end but as part of the Board 
response to Covid 19 these funds  
were  subsequently released. This is 
further explained in the Post Balance 
Sheet Events review.

FINANCIAL REVIEW CONTD.

Operational risk management

The Directors consider annually 
the major risks to which Aidlink is 
exposed. They have reviewed and 
approved   a risk register that scores 
risk based on an estimate of the 
likelihood of occurrence and the 
impact on the organisation with a 
bias towards high impact. The Aidlink 
risk register identifies risk under the 
themes of Reputational, Financial, 
Employee and Programme/Partner. 
Three significant risks and their 
mitigation strategies are defined 
below:

Future levels of income 
• Aidlink is reliant on grants and 

donations to implement the 
Development Programme. When 
the number or value of grants 
is reduced, Aidlink’s capacity to 
deliver projects and programmes is 
compromised. The Board mitigate 
this risk with the prioritisation and 
implementation of a fundraising 
strategy – which includes exploring 
new opportunities from trusts, 
foundations and philanthropists. 
Annual budget and fundraising 
strategy have been amended and 
adjusted in light of the Covid-19 
pandemic.

Loss of Irish Aid funding
• Irish Aid funding is, by its very 

nature, subject to political changes 
in government policy. The Directors    
have identified this as a risk as it 
may mean initiatives or activities 
supported by Aidlink are no longer 
supported by Irish Aid. Current 
funding from Irish Aid is under the 
Civil Society fund scheme with a 
three- year contract 2019 being 
year 2. Aidlink expects to draw down 
year three funding in August 2020. 
As a result, further emphasis on 
fundraising has been agreed upon by 
the Directors.

Fraud
• The potential for fraud remains a 

significant risk to the organisation 
primarily due to the impact such an 
occurrence would have on public 
confidence in the organisation. 
The Directors have mitigated 
this risk by requiring partners to 
provide financial reports audited 
by independent auditors, by 
building  capacity within partner 
organisations to ensure that they 
have robust financial systems and 
by engaging with partners’ other 
donors through sharing reports and 
meetings. There is no evidence of 
fraud in 2019. Aidlink’s fraud policy 
was updated in June 2020.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

Aidlink’s activities expose it to 
several financial risks including credit 
risk, cash flow risk and liquidity 
risk. Given the type and scale of the 
company’s activities, these risks are 
significantly lower than would occur 
in a commercial environment.

Cash flow risk 
• The company’s activities expose 

it primarily to the financial risks 
of changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates—the primary 
exchange rate risk results from 
overseas partners’ programmes 
being denominated in non–euro 
currencies. The Directors believe 
it would be inappropriate to use 
derivative financial instruments 
as their costs would outweigh 
any advantages. Aidlink has some 
flexibility in the timing of payments 
that allows it to mitigate the risk.

Credit risk 
• The company’s principal financial 

assets are bank balances and cash 
and receivables. Aidlink’s credit 
risk is primarily attributable to its 
liquid funds. It is limited because 
the counterparties are banks with 
satisfactory credit-ratings assigned 
by international credit rating 
agencies with deposits insured 
under EU regulations.

Liquidity risk  
• The company’s reserve policies 

ensure that sufficient funds are 
available for ongoing operations and 
future developments. Further details 
regarding liquidity risk can be found 
in the accounting policies in   Note 1 
of the financial statements.
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2020 Development Programme 

Aidlink’s 2020 Development 
Programme will maintain a focus 
on working with the poorest 
communities in Kenya and 
Uganda (the Masai, Turkana and 
Karamojong), with a particular 
emphasis on women and girls. Aidlink 
will work to improve gender equality, 
education and livelihoods outcomes 
among targeted communities that 
are isolated, marginalised, and 
perform poorly across almost all 
development indicators.

The Kenya Inclusive Quality 
Education Project in Kajiado and 
Turkana, Kenya, and the Community 
Development project in Karamoja, 
Uganda, will remain a priority, in 
partnership with the Girl Child 
Network   and Voluntary Action for 
Development respectively. We will 
continue to support the work of 
Caritas Lodwar and Caritas Maddo, 
as well as our Ghanaian partners, on 
a project-by-project basis as funds 
allow. Two out of three scheduled 
Immersion Programmes for 2020 
have been postponed as a result of 
Covid-19. Our Irish partners and 
African host communities wish 
to reschedule for 2021 should 
the global health environment 
allow. The absence of fundraised 
income associated with immersion 
programmes negatively impacts our 
capacity to support any initiatives 
outside the core programme.

PLANS FOR THE FUTURE

2020 Fundraising 

Fundraising is a priority of the Board 
of Directors. Existing plans have been 
severely compromised as a result of 
the Covid-19 pandemic. Strategies 
and plans are under constant review 
in this new and evolving context. A 
revised strategy is being developed 
in the context of ‘Fundraising in the 
Covid crisis’ and includes:

• Secure existing FTCs support and 
explore potential philanthropic 
opportunities. Aidlink will intensify 
efforts to strengthen existing 
relationships and to identify and 
target new trusts, foundations and 
philanthropic organisations.

• Strengthening of community 
fundraising through online means.

• School Immersion Programme: 
In addition to meeting Aidlink’s 
development education goals, the 
Immersion Programme generates 
significant unrestricted income for 
Aidlink and our partners. Three 
immersion programmes were 
scheduled for 2020, at the onset 
of the Covid 19 Pandemic only 
one programme was complete; 
the remaining two schools having 
to postpone their programmes to 
2021. Irish partner schools remain 
committed and have engaged in 
raising unrestricted funds for Aidlink 

throughout the pandemic.

Organisational Structure 

Aidlink is governed by a Board of 
Directors who are responsible for 
providing leadership, setting strategy 
and ensuring control. Day to day 
operations of the organisation are 
managed by the Chief Executive 
Officer (CEO) appointed by the 
Board. Two staff members report to 
the CEO; the Programme Officer and 
the Fundraising and Communications 
Officer. Aidlink employs the 
expertise of external consultants 
where required.

Composition of the Board

The Board must comprise of between 
eight and twelve non-executive 
Directors. During 2019, Aidlink’s 
Board had 12 serving members, 
comprised of four women and eight 
men. Their professional biographies 
are available on the Aidlink website 
http://aidlink.ie/about/governance/. 
In 2019, the Board met nine times 
(2018: nine times) with an average 
attendance of 78% (2018: 68%).

The Directors are committed to 
maintaining the highest standards of 
Corporate Governance and believe 
this is a crucial element in ensuring 
the proper operation of Aidlink’s 
activities. A core element of this 
policy is to ensure that the company 
is led by an effective Board and an 
experienced Chief Executive Officer. 
The role of Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer are separate, and 
all Directors are independent of the 
management of Aidlink.

Aidlink’s Governance Policy (updated 
2018), is in line with the principals of 
The Charities Governance Code as 
set out by the Charities Regulatory 
Authority (2019). Aidlink carries out 
annual Board and Chief Executive 
Officer Performance reviews and 
has a comprehensive process for 
reporting management information, 
including monthly management 
accounts.

Board Appointments 

Directors are recruited through 
a combination of both public 
advertising and internal networking. 
Candidates for appointment to the 
Board are prioritised based on the 
Board’s requirements for expertise 
from time to time, for example, in 
the areas of development, finance, 
fundraising or governance. It is 
intended that the Board should 
comprise a balance of expertise 
and disciplines.  Directors receive 
induction training upon selection and 
are subject to a six-month initial trial 
before a formal appointment.

Directors are expected to serve a 
minimum term of three years. Under 
the Articles of Association of Aidlink, 
each director is required to submit 
him or herself for re-election every 
three years at the annual general 
meeting. All Directors may serve a 
maximum of three, three-year terms.

At least two new Directors are 
appointed in each rolling three-year 
period, and at least two current 
Directors step down to maintain 

continuity and experience and 
enable the introduction of fresh 
insights to the Board. If there are 
no voluntary retirements from the 
Board necessary to meet this policy, 
the Chairman shall nominate the 
Directors who shall next retire, 
taking into account the objectives of 
this policy. Retiring Directors may 
be invited to become members of 
Aidlink, subject to approval by the 
Board.

Ciaran Ó Muirthile was appointed 
to the Board in April 2019. 
Following the resignation of Philip 
Owende, Meadhbh McCann and 
Marie Moynihan in November 
2019, Margaret O’Donoghue was 
appointed to the Board in December 
2019. We wish to express our 
gratitude to Philip, Meadhbh and 
Marie for their time and commitment 
to Aidlink and welcome their ongoing 
support as members.

STRUCTURE, GOVERNANCE 
AND MANAGEMENT
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Committees of the Board 

There is a clear division of roles and 
responsibilities at Aidlink. The Board 
retains responsibility for strategy, 
policy and control of significant 
decisions under a formal schedule of 
matters reserved to the Board. The 
Board delegate authority to the CEO 
for the day to day management of 
operations. 

Committees of the Board meet at 
least once per year (For membership 
of the committees see page 36).

• Audit and Risk Committee 
(Chaired by Liam Byrne, 
Treasurer) 
The Audit and Risk Committee 
assists the Board in discharging 
oversight responsibilities, 
monitoring risks to the 
organisation and overseeing 
the financial reporting process 
to review the transparency, 
balance and integrity of Aidlink’s 
published financial information.

• Remuneration and Director 
Performance Review 
Committee (Chaired by Gemma 
Grimes) 
The Remuneration and 
Director’s Performance 
Committee manages the 
remuneration and terms of 
employment of Aidlink staff.  It 
also reviews Aidlink’s succession 
management and staff 
development plans.

• Governance and Nominations 
Committee (Chaired by Brian 
Ingarfield) 
The Governance and 
Nominations Committee 
ensures that the Board and its 
committees have the appropriate 
balance of skills, experience, 

independence and knowledge of 
the company to enable them to 
discharge their respective duties 
and responsibilities effectively.

• Programme Committee 
(Chaired by Eoghan Caffrey) 
The Programme Committee 
provides guidance and advice on 
programme strategy. 

• Fundraising Committee 
(Chaired by Sean Crowe)  
The Fundraising committee 
provides direction and 
leadership on the fundraising 
strategy.

Pay policy for senior staff

The Directors consider that the 
Board of Directors and the CEO, 
who is not a member of the Board, 
comprise the key management 
personnel of Aidlink in charge of 
directing and controlling, running 
and operating the company on a day 
to day basis.

Except for the CEO, all Directors 
give of their time freely and no 
director received remuneration 
in the year. While the Directors 
are entitled to reimbursement for 
vouched expenditure incurred in 
the performance of their duties, no 
such amount was claimed in 2019 or 
2018.

The pay of the CEO is reviewed 
annually by the Director 
Performance Review Committee.  
The salary of the other staff 
members is reviewed by the CEO in 
conjunction with the Remuneration 
Committee. Given the nature of the 
company, the Directors’ benchmark 

against pay levels in other non-profit 
organisations.

Networks and Consortia  
 
Aidlink is a member of Irish, 
Kenyan, Ugandan and international 
development networks and 
consortia. Membership of such 
organisations is seen as a key vehicle 
for Aidlink’s macro-level engagement 
and advocacy. Aidlink is a member 
of Dóchas - the Irish Association of 
Non-Governmental Development 
Organisations, Charities Institute 
Ireland, The Wheel and is also 
a founding member of www.
developmenteducation.ie.

INTERNAL CONTROLS 

The Directors acknowledge their 
overall responsibility for Aidlink’s 
systems of internal control and for 
reviewing its effectiveness. They 
have delegated responsibility for the 
implementation of this system to the 
CEO. This system includes financial 
controls, which enable the Board to 
meet its obligations for the integrity 
and accuracy of Aidlink’s accounting 
records.

The Board has established a process 
of compliance which addresses the 
Board’s broader responsibility to 
maintain, review and report on all 
internal controls, including financial 
and operational.

Key elements of internal control 
systems include:

• Aidlink has strict policies and 
procedures in place for the receipt, 
recording and control of donations 
received from private individuals 
and the corporate sector;

• Procedures and control systems are 
formally documented in a series of 
partnership and project agreements 
that are reviewed bi-annually on a 
project by project basis;

• There is a formal organisational 
structure in place with clearly 
defined lines of responsibility, 
division of duties and delegation of 
authority;

• A detailed budget is prepared 
annually, which is in line with the 
Strategic Plan and approved by 
the Board. Actual results and 
outcomes are compared regularly 
against budget and prior year to 
ensure alignment with budget, tight 
administration control, and value for 
money;

• The Audit Committee reports 
independently to the Board on all 
aspects of controls and risks; and

• he Board maintains a reserve 
policy that exceeds the minimum 
recommended for charities (three 
months reserves) to mitigate the 
increasing risks of the uncertain 
economy and to ensure the 
sustainability of our services.

AUDIT FUNCTIONS

Aidlink uses the Xero accounting 
software package which is reviewed 
monthly. The management accounts 
were reviewed by the Board nine 
times in 2019 (2018: nine times). 
Aidlink is audited by Deloitte Ireland 
LLP, and financial statements and 
annual reports are published online. 
Financial statements are prepared 
in line with SORP standards and the 
Companies Act 2014; the Directors’ 
Report identifies the principal 
risks facing the organisation and 
mitigation strategies; a disclosure 
statement on senior management 
salaries is included. Aidlink remains 
committed to further strengthening 
transparency and accountability 
in order to maintain trust with the 
public, donors and partners.

TRANSPARENCY AND 
ACCOUNTABILITY

Aidlink is satisfied that no 
incidence of fraud or gross financial 
mismanagement has occurred among 
partners or within the activities 
organised by the Dublin head office. 
Partners are externally audited by 
registered in-country auditors; audit 
reports and management letters 
are examined by Aidlink senior 
management and the treasurer in 
line with our financial policy. It is 

the current opinion of our partners’ 
independent auditors that their 
respective financial statements give 
an accurate and fair view of the state 
of affairs of each partner. Aidlink 
also reviews partners’ monetary 
policies and procedures and holds 
independent discussions with 
partners’ financial managers as part 
of routine monitoring and evaluation 
processes. Review of partners other 
donors’ reports and audits provide 
further security regarding financial 
management procedures.

FUNDRAISING

Monitoring fundraising is a chief 
responsibility of all Directors as 
they are charged with ensuring the 
short-term and long-term viability 
of the company. Aidlink has formally 
adopted and adheres to the Charities 
Regulator’s Guidelines for Charitable 
Organisations on Fundraising from 
the public.

DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

Strategic oversight of the 
Development Programme is a crucial 
responsibility of all Directors. The 
Board are responsible for monitoring 
partner performance, ensuring 
programme results are on-track and 
ensuring expenditure is in line with 
targets and budgets. The Directors 
also ensure that throughout the 
life-cycle of the Development 
Programme, outcomes continue 
to contribute to the organisation’s 
strategic objectives.

STRUCTURE, GOVERNANCE 
AND MANAGEMENT CONTD.

STRUCTURE, GOVERNANCE 
AND MANAGEMENT CONTD.
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The Covid 19 pandemic is a non-
adjusting post balance sheet event. 
In common with many charities, the 
pandemic has had a serious impact 
on Aidlink’s ability to raise funds 
and operate. Unrestricted funds are 
used by Aidlink to finance certain 
projects as well as for administrative 
expenses. General fundraising has 
been limited, and at the date of 
approval of this report, it is unlikely 
that Aidlink’s normal music-based 
fundraising events will take place in 
2020.

Immersion programmes originally 
scheduled for 2020 have been 
deferred to 2021 – having an impact 
on the level of unrestricted funds 
available to the company. The 
shutting down of international travel 
has meant that all monitoring and 
evaluation of our partners have had 
to take place through electronic 
means. 

We have engaged with our 
supporters who have continued to 
provide guidance and much needed 
financial resources. A number of our 
supporters have undertaken special 
fundraising activities for which we 
are extremely grateful. 

Aidlink’s main operations are 
determined to a large extent by the 
requirements of Irish Aid. Irish Aid 
has been particularly supportive 
and has amended the terms and 
conditions of its grant to recognise 
the challenges of operating in a Covid 
19 environment. 

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS 

Given the serious reduction in 
fundraising income, Aidlink has 
availed of the Irish Government’s 
Temporary Wage Subsidy Scheme for 
its employees. At the end of 2019, 
Aidlink had a designated unrestricted 
reserve of €150,000. This was, 
in essence, a “rainy day” fund to 
provide security against a downturn 
in incoming resources. The Board 
has agreed that given the significant 
impact of the Covid 19 pandemic to 
release this fund so that operations 
can be maintained. 

The Board has approved 
projections that anticipate a 
deficit on unrestricted funds of 
€47,000 for 2020 and €20,000 
for 2021. The release of the 
designated unrestricted reserve will 
ensure that these deficits can be 
managed. Restrictions imposed by 
Governments of Kenya and Uganda 
in response to Covid 19 severely 
impacted on the delivery of planned 
programme activities. 

These projections assume that any 
“second wave” associated with Covid 
19 will not be significant.  Should that 
not be the case, there will be further 
disruption to the fundraising and 
operational activities of the company.  
The board approved projections 
anticipate that at the end of 2021, 
Aidlink will have unrestricted 
reserves amounting to €143,000.  
Accordingly, the board consider 
that the company is well placed to 
withstand the financial impact arising 
from a “second wave”. 

All schools in Kenya and Uganda 
have been closed since the end 
of March, limiting access to 
target  communities and resulting 
in increased risk to the welfare 
and safety of children especially 
girls. There is growing evidence 
of increased incidence of early 
marriage, Gender Based Violence 
and FGM (Kajiado). This is further 
complicated by increased food 
insecurity following a period of 
prolonged drought / flash flooding 
and the  third wave of locusts in 
recent months. 

With the support of Irish Aid the 
Kenya Inclusive Quality Education 
programme plans were adjusted to 
meet the immediate needs of target 
communities. Measures taken to 
reduce risks to the most vulnerable 
included:
• the transfer of school based feeding 

to household level,

• the provision of sanitary pads for 
girls,

• the installation of handwashing 
stations for at risk communities

• Public Health messaging

• Community Facilitators supported 
to maintain child protection 
surveillance and support to out of 
school children, especially girls.

The Directors acknowledge their 
responsibilities under Section 281 to 
285 of the Companies Act 2014 to 
keep adequate accounting records 
for the company.

In order to comply with the 
requirements of the Act, appropriate 
personnel are employed. The 
accounting records of the company 
are kept at the registered office 
and principal place of business, 34 
Greenmount Office Park, Harold’s 
Cross, Dublin 6W, D6W CX81.

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ 
RESPONSIBILITIES

The Directors are responsible for 
preparing the Directors’ Report 
and the financial statements in 
accordance with the Companies Act 
2014 and the applicable regulations.

Irish company law requires the 
Directors to prepare financial 
statements giving an accurate and 
fair view of the state of affairs of 
the company and the net income 
or expenditure of Aidlink for each 
financial year. Under that law, 
the Directors have elected to 
prepare the financial statements 
in accordance with FRS 102: the 
Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable to the UK and Republic of 
Ireland (‘relevant financial reporting 
framework’). Under company law, 
the Directors must not approve the 
financial statements unless they are 
satisfied that they give a true and 
fair view of the assets, liabilities and 

financial position as at the financial 
year-end date and of the net income 
or expenditure of the company for 
the financial year and otherwise 
comply with the Companies Act 
2014.

In preparing these financial 
statements, the Directors are 
required to:

• Select suitable accounting 
policies for the company financial 
statements and then apply them 

consistently;

• Make judgments and accounting 
estimates that are reasonable and 

prudent;

• State whether the financial 
statements have been prepared per 
the applicable accounting standards, 
identify those standards, and note 
the effect and the reasons for any 
material departure from those 

standards; and

• Prepare the financial statements 
on the going concern basis unless 
it is inappropriate to presume that 

Aidlink will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible 
for keeping adequate accounting 
records that disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the company and 
enable them to ensure that the 
financial statements comply with 
the Companies Act 2014. They are 
also responsible for safeguarding 
the assets of the charity and hence 
for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud 
and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for 
the maintenance and integrity of the 
corporate and financial information 
included on the Aidlink’s website. 
Legislation in Ireland governing the 
preparation and dissemination of 
financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.
 

ACCOUNTING RECORDS 
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The company’s activities, as well as 
the related funding uncertainties, are 
set out elsewhere in this Directors’ 
Report. In particular, the funding 
arrangements with Irish Aid require 
a commitment from Aidlink to meet 
the expenditure from its resources 
as well as fulfilling the funding 
conditions agreed with Irish Aid. As 
a result of the Covid 19 pandemic, 
Irish Aid have amended the terms 
and conditions for year 3 of the Civil 
Society Fund grant by reducing the 
co-funding obligation for Aidlink.

The projections approved by the 
directors assume that there will 
be significant loss of income form 
fundraising activities in 2020 with 
a recovery in 2021. Based on these 
projections, the Board approved the 
release of the company’s reserve 
fund to meet day to day obligations. 
The directors are confident that 
there is sufficient headroom 
within the projections to allow for 
unforeseen circumstances such a 
second wave.

Accordingly, with the support of the 
Government Wage Subsidy scheme 
and the release of the company’s 
reserve fund, the directors have 
concluded that they have a 
reasonable expectation that the 
company has adequate resources to 
continue its operational activities for 
the foreseeable future, being twelve 
months from the date of approval 
of the financial statements. The 
Directors, therefore, have continued 
to adopt the going concern basis of 
accounting in preparing the annual 
financial statements.

GOING CONCERN 

Under Section 330 of the Companies 
Act 2014, so far as each person 
who was a director at the date of 
approving this report is aware, there 
is no relevant audit information, 
being information needed by the 
auditor in connection with preparing 
its report, of which the auditor is 
unaware. Having made enquiries of 
fellow Directors, each director has 
taken all the steps he/she is obliged 
to take as a director to make himself/
herself aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the 
auditor is aware of the data.

AUDITORS

In accordance with Section 383(2) 
of the Companies Act 2014, the 
auditors, Deloitte Ireland LLP, 
Chartered Accountants and 
Statutory Audit Firm, Deloitte & 
Touche House, Earlsfort Terrace, 
Dublin 2, D02 AY28 will continue in 
office.

27 July 2020
Signed on behalf of the Board:

John Lynch
Director
Aidlink

Liam Byrne 
Director
Aidlink

STATEMENT ON RELEVANT AUDIT 
INFORMATION
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF AIDLINK

Report on the audit of the 
financial statements

Opinion on the financial statements 
of Aidlink (the ‘company’)

In our opinion, the company 
financial statements:

• give an accurate and fair view of 
the assets, liabilities and financial 
position of the company as at 
the financial year-end date and 
of the net expenditure for the 

financial year then ended; and 

• have been adequately prepared 
in accordance with the relevant 
financial reporting framework and, 
in particular, with the requirements 

of the Companies Act 2014. 

The financial statements we 
have audited comprise:

• the Statement of Financial Activities;

• the Balance Sheet;

• the Statement of Cash Flow; and

• the related notes 1 to 21, including 
a summary of significant accounting 
policies as set out in note 1.

The relevant financial reporting 
framework that has been applied 
is the Companies Act 2014 and 
FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland” issued 
by the Financial Reporting 
Council (“the relevant financial 
reporting framework”).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit 
following International Standards 
on Auditing (Ireland) (ISAs 
(Ireland)) and applicable law. 
Our responsibilities under those 
standards are described below 
in the “Auditor’s responsibilities 
for the audit of the financial 
statements” section of our report. 

We are independent of the company 
in accordance with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to 
our audit of the financial statements 
in Ireland, including the Ethical 
Standard issued by the Irish Auditing 
and Accounting Supervisory 
Authority, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities under 
these requirements. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to 
ongoing concern

We have nothing to report in 
respect of the following matters 
about which ISAs (Ireland) require 
us to report to you where:

• the directors’ use of the going 
concern basis of accounting in 
the preparation of the financial 

statements is not appropriate; or

• the directors have not disclosed 
in the financial statements any 
identified material uncertainties 
that may cast significant doubt 
about the company’s ability to 
continue to adopt the going 
concern basis of accounting for 
at least twelve months from the 
date when the financial statements 

are authorised for issue.

Other information

The directors are responsible 
for the other information. The 
additional information comprises 
the information included in the 
Annual Report and Financial 
Statements for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2019, other 
than the financial statements and 
our auditor’s report thereon. Our 
opinion on the financial statements 
does not cover the additional 
information and, except to the extent 
otherwise explicitly stated in our 
report, we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of 
the financial statements, our 
responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the additional 
information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the 
audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If we identify 
such material inconsistencies or 
apparent material misstatements, we 
are required to determine whether 
there is a material misstatement 
in the financial statements or a 
material misstatement of the other 
information. If based on the work we 
have performed, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement 
of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this 
regard.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the 
Directors’ Responsibilities 
Statement, the directors are 
responsible for the preparation 
of the financial statements and 

for being satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view and otherwise 
comply with the Companies Act 
2014, and for such internal control 
as the directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, 
the directors are responsible for 
assessing the company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the directors either intend 
to liquidate the company or to 
cease operations or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error and 
to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance. 
Still, it is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs (Ireland) will always detect 
a material misstatement when it 
exists. Inaccuracies can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken based 
on these financial statements. 

As part of an audit under 
ISAs (Ireland), we exercise 
professional judgment and 
maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the review. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of 
material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform 
audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or 

the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of 
internal control relevant to the 
audit to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not to express 
an opinion on the effectiveness of 

the company’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures 
made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness 
of the directors’ use of the going 
concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the 
company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. If we conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention 
in our auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained 
up to the date of the auditor’s 
report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the entity (or 
where relevant, the group) to cease 
to continue as a going concern.
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Auditor’s responsibilities 
for the audit of the financial 
statements (Continued) 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, 
structure and content of the 
financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the 
financial statements represent 
the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those 
charged with governance regarding, 
among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that the auditor 
identifies during the audit.

This report is made solely to the 
company’s members, as a body, 
per Section 391 of the Companies 
Act 2014. Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state 
to the company’s members those 
matters we are required to state 
to them in an auditor’s report and 
for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility to 
anyone other than the company and 
the company’s members as a body, 
for our audit work, for this report, 
or for the opinions we have formed.

Report on other legal and 

regulatory requirements

Opinion on other matters 
prescribed by the Companies Act 
2014

Based solely on the work undertaken 
in the course of the audit, we report 
that:

• We have obtained all the 
information and explanations which 
we consider necessary for our audit.

• In our opinion, the accounting 
records of the company were 
sufficient to permit the financial 
statements to be readily and duly 

audited.

• The financial statements are in 
agreement with the accounting 

records.

• In our opinion, the information given 
in the directors’ report is consistent 
with the financial statements, and 
the directors’ report has been 
prepared in accordance with the 
Companies Act 2014.

Matters on which we are required 
to report by exception

Based on the knowledge and 
understanding of the company and 
its environment obtained in the 
course of the audit, we have not 
identified material misstatements in 
the directors’ report.

We have nothing to report in 
respect of the provisions in the 
Companies Act 2014 which require 
us to report to you if, in our opinion, 
the disclosures of directors’ 
remuneration and transactions 
specified by law are not made.

Signed:

Marguarita Martin
For and on behalf of Deloitte Ireland 
LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory 
Audit Firm
Deloitte & Touche House, Earlsfort 
Terrace, Dublin 2

17 August 2020
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Restricted 
Funds  
2019

Unrestricted 
Funds  
2019

Designated 
Funds  
2019

Total  
Funds  
2019

Total  
Funds  
2018

Notes € € € € €

INCOME

Donations and legacies 3 93,210 136,479 - 229,689 400,083

Charitable activities - Irish Aid 4 279,000 31,000 - 310,000 310,000

Charitable activities - Other 5 125,376 - - 125,376 149,461

Total income 497,586 167,479 - 665,065 859,544

EXPENDITURE

Raising funds 6 - (36,804) - (36,804) (34,649)

Charitable activities 7 (510,874) (173,430) - (684,304) (701,907)

Total expenditure (510,874) (210,234) - (721,108) (736,556)

Net (expenditure)/income (13,288) (42,755) - (56,043) 122,988

Transfers between funds - - - - -

Net movement in funds 16 (13,288) (42,755) - (56,043) 122,988

Reconciliation of funds

Total funds brought forward 178,725 101,311 150,000 430,036 307,048

Total funds carried forward 165,437 58,556 150,000 373,993 430,036

Statement of Financial Activities  
for the financial year ended 31 December 2019

Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2019

2019 2018

Notes € €

FIXED ASSETS       

Tangible assets 13 2,560 3,890

CURRENT ASSETS

Debtors 14 8,601 10,915

Cash at bank and in hand 371,946 429,469

380,547 440,384

LIABILITIES    

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 15 (9,114) (14,238)

NET CURRENT ASSETS 371,433 426,146

NET ASSETS 373,993 430,036

REPRESENTED BY:

Accumulated funds – restricted                             16 165,437 178,725

Accumulated funds - unrestricted 16 58,556 101,311

Designated fund - unrestricted 16 150,000 150,000

373,993 430,036

The financial statements were approved by the Board of 
Directors on 27 July 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

John Lynch
Director, Aidlink

Liam Byrne 
Director, Aidlink
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2019 2018

€ €

Notes

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net cash used in operating activities             17 (57,523) 165,192

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest received - -

Purchase of tangible fixed assets - -

NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES - -

(DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS

(57,523) 165,192

€

At 1 January 2018 264,277

Cashflow for the year 165,192

At 1 January 2019 429,469

Cashflow for the year (57,523)

At 31 December 2019 371,946

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Aidlink accounts are presented in 
Euro. The significant accounting 
policies adopted by Aidlink are as 
follows:

General Information 

Aidlink is a company incorporated 
in Ireland under the Companies Act 
2014. The company is a company 
limited by guarantee not having a 
share capital (CLG) under Part 18 
of the Companies Act 2014. The 
address of the registered office is 34 
Greenmount Office Park, Harold’s 
Cross, Dublin 6W, D6W CX81. 
The company’s operations and its 
principle activities are set out in the 
Directors’ Report on pages 36 to 48. 

Basis of preparation 

The financial statements have been 
prepared on a going concern basis 
(see note 2) under the historical cost 
convention and in accordance with: 

• Accounting and Reporting 
by Charities: Statement of 
Recommended Practice applicable 
to charities preparing their financial 
statements per the Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in 
the UK and Republic of Ireland 

{Charities SORP {FRS 102));

• The Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of 

Ireland (FRS 102); and

• Irish statute comprising the 

Companies Act 2014.

As permitted by section 291(3)(4) 
of the Companies Act 2014, the 
company has varied the standard 
format specified in that Act for the 

Statement of Financial Activities, 
the Balance Sheets and Cash Flow 
Statement. Departures from the 
standard formats, as outlined in 
the Companies Act 2014, are to 
comply with the requirements of the 
Charities SORP (FRS 102) and are in 
compliance with sections 4.7, 10.6 
and 15.2 of that SORP. The Charities 
SORP was developed by the Charity 
Commission for England and Wales 
and the Office of the Scottish Charity 
Regulator, who are the joint SORP-
making bodies recognised by the 
UK Accounting Standards Board, as 
the appropriate parties to develop 
SORPs for the charity sector. 

Financial reporting in line with 
the Charities SORP (FRS 102) 
is considered best practice for 
charities in Ireland. As noted 
above, the Directors consider the 
adoption of the Charities SORP 
(FRS 102) requirements as the most 
appropriate accounting practice 
and presentation to fairly reflect 
and disclose the activities of the 
company.

Income 

Income is analysed according to the 
activity that produced the resources 
as follows:

• Donations and legacies 
Donations and legacies include all 
income received by Aidlink that 
is, in substance, a gift made to the 
company on a voluntary basis. It 
is accounted for when there is 
evidence of entitlement, receipt 
is probable, and the amount can 
be measured reliably. As with 
similar charitable organisations, 
independent groups from time to 

time organise fundraising activities. 
However, as amounts collected 
this way are outside the control of 
Aidlink, they are not included in the 
financial statements until received 
by Aidlink.

• Charitable activities 
Income from charitable activities 
includes income earned from 
performance related grants that 
specify the activities to be delivered 
by Aidlink. It is accounted for when 
amounts receivable on grant and 
funding applications are approved 
or paid.

• Investment 
Investment income is accounted for 
on a receipts basis. 

Restricted funds

Income received by Aidlink, the 
application of which is restricted 
to a specific purpose by the donor, 
is treated as restricted funds and 
any unspent amounts as restricted 
assets. Such specified purposes 
are within the overall aims of the 
organisation.

Unrestricted funds

Other income, apart from 
restricted funds, is used by Aidlink 
in the furtherance of its work and 
objectives. Such funds may be held 
in order to finance administration 
expenses or may be used at the 
discretion of the organisation for 
specified purposes that are within 
the aims of the organisation.

Expenditure

Resources expended are analysed 
between raising funds and 
expenditure on charitable activities. 

Analysis of Changes in Cash 
and Cash Equivalents

Statement of Cash Flows for the 
Financial Year Ended 31 December 2019

Notes to the Financial Statements for the 
Financial Year Ended 31 December 2019
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Expenditure (Continued)

Raising funds and expenditure on 
charitable activities are accounted 
for on an accrual basis. 

• Raising Funds 
Expenditure on raising funds 
includes all expenditure incurred 
by Aidlink to raise funds for its 
charitable activities.

• Charitable Activities 
Expenditure on charitable activities 
includes all costs incurred by Aidlink 
in undertaking activities that further 
its charitable aims, including those 
support costs and costs relating to 
governance of the company.

• Support Costs  
Support costs are directly allocated 
to the related activity where 
possible. Otherwise support costs 
are allocated on the basis of staff 
time. 

 

Foreign Currencies

Revenues and costs arising from 
transactions denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated into Euro 
at the rates of exchange ruling on 
the date on which the transaction 
occurred.

Assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are translated 
into Euro at the rates of exchange 
ruling on the balance sheet date. The 
resulting surplus or deficit are dealt 
with in the statement of financial 
activities.

Cash at bank and in hand

Cash at bank and in hand comprises 
cash on hand and demand deposits.
 
Fixed assets and depreciation 

Fixed assets are recorded at cost.

Depreciation is provided so as to 
write off the cost of fixed assets over 
their expected useful lives at the 
following annual rates:

Office equipment              10% straight line

Computer equipment      20% straight line

Operating Leases

Annual operating leases are charged 
to the statement of financial 
activities in the year that they are 
paid.

Financial instruments

Aidlink only has financial assets and 
financial liabilities of a kind that 
qualify as basic financial instruments.  
Basic financial instruments are 
initially recognised at transaction 
value and subsequently measured at 
their settlement value.  
 
 

2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING 
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY 
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
AND UNCERTAINITY 

In the application of Aidlink’s 
accounting policies, the Directors 
are required to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions about 
the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. Given 
the scale of the company’s activities 
and the quantum of the individual 
items contained within assets 
and liabilities, these judgements, 
estimates and assumptions 
are generally immaterial to the 
financial statements. Where such a 
judgement, estimation or assumption 
is material, it is disclosed in the notes 
to the financial statements. 

Going Concern 

The company has entered into a 
three-year funding agreement with 
Irish Aid.  As part of that agreement, 
Aidlink must meet certain conditions, 
including the expenditure of funds 
from non-Irish Aid sources.  Aidlink 
has engaged with Irish Aid, and as 
a result, Irish Aid has amended the 
terms and conditions for year 3 of 
the Civil Society Fund grant. The 
directors are satisfied that Aidlink 
will be able to meet the conditions of 
the Irish Aid funding agreement. 

Covid 19 has had a major impact on 
the financial and operating activities 
of the company.  While the pandemic 
is a non-adjusting post balance 
sheet event, the directors are 
cognisant of the risk to the company. 
The company prepared financial 
projections to 31 December 2021 
and these have been approved by the 
Board. As part of their assessment, 
the directors also approved the 
release of the company’s designated 
reserves. These amounted to 
€150,000 at 31 December 2019. 

Based on the assumptions in the 
projections, it is anticipated that 
the company will have unrestricted 
reserves in the amount of €143,000 
at 31 December 2021. The Board 
recognises that there are factors that 
are outside of the company’s control 
that may have an impact on this 
forecast but, given the headroom, 
are confident that the measures 
taken to date will result in the 
company having sufficient reserves 
in place for the foreseeable future 
being a period of twelve months 
from the date of approval of the 
financial statements. Accordingly, 
the Directors have continued to 
adopt the going concern basis of 
accounting in preparing the annual 
financial statements.

3. DONATIONS AND LEGACIES 

Restricted  
Funds 2019

Unrestricted  
Funds 2019

Total Funds  
2019

Total Funds  
2018

€ € € €

Voluntary Income

Immersion Programme 89,155 70,222 159,377 322,122

Other Donors and Regular Givers - 46,249 46,249 43,437

Subtotal 89,155 116,471 205,626 365,559

Activities for Generating Funds

Community Fundraising - 7,429 7,429 9,165

Turkana Drought appeal 4,055 - 4,055 -

Aidlink for Turkana - 12,579 12,579 25,359

Subtotal 4,055 20,008 24,063 34,524

Total income from donations and 
legacies

93,210 136,479 229,689 400,083

4. CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES - IRISH AID

Restricted  
Funds 2019

Unrestricted  
Funds 2019

Total Funds  
2019

Total Funds  
2018

€ € € €

IRISH AID

Kenya Inclusive Quality Education 
Project

279,000 - 279,000 279,000

Programme Quality - 31,000 31,000 31,000

Total 279,000 31,000 310,000 310,000

The grant from Irish Aid has been  
allocated to the following partners:

Girl Child Network (Kenya) 263,200 - 263,200 263,200

Programme Quality 15,800 31,000 46,800 46,800

Programme Support - - - -

Total 279,000 31,000 310,000 310,000
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Restricted  
Funds 2019

Unrestricted  
Funds 2019

Total Funds  
2019

Total Funds  
2018

€ € € €

Bank of Ireland Staff Third World Fund 60,230 - 60,230 47,895

Dublin City Council Staff World Development Fund 5,400 - 5,400 5,996

Electric Aid 40,946 - 40,946 52,000

Galway Language Centre - - - 2,000

INTO Solidarity Fund 1,500 - 1,500 1,500

RTÉ One World Fund 3,650 - 3,650 -

Staff of HSE Assoc. for Relief of Poverty 8,650 - 8,650 -

Wild Geese 5,000 - 5,000 40,070

Total 125,376 - 125,376 149,461

Grants noted above have been allocated to the following 
partners:

Amani Kibera (Kenya) - - - 5,018

Caritas Lodwar (Kenya) 8,650 - 8,650 12,000

St. Paul’s Parish- Turkana (Kenya) 5,000 - 5,000 35,052

Girl Child Network (Kenya) 66,326 - 66,326 31,548

Voluntary Action for Development (Uganda) 45,400 - 45,400 65,843

Total 125,376 - 125,376 149,461

5. CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES - OTHER

Restricted  
Funds 2019

Unrestricted  
Funds 2019

Total Funds  
2019

Total Funds  
2018

€ € € €

Fundraising Expenses - (6,917) (6,917) (4,660)

Support Costs (Note 9) - (29,887) (29,887) (29,989)

Total - (36,804) (36,804) (34,649)

6. RAISING FUNDS

7. CHARITABLE ACTIVITES

Activities
Undertaken

Directly

Grant 
Funding of

Activities

Support
Costs

(Note 9)

Total
Funds
2019

Total
Funds
2018

€ € € € €

Inclusive Quality Education – Kenya (4,075) (332,336) (109,582) (445,993) (401,548)

Karamoja Community Development - Uganda - (65,950) (19,925) (85,875) (87,888)

Education Ghana - (31,744) - (31,744) -

Development Education (80,844) - (39,848) (120,692) (212,471)

Total (84,919) (430,030) (169,355) (684,304) (701,907)

Restricted (80,844) (430,030) - (510,874) (526,420)

Unrestricted (4,075) - (169,355) (173,430) (175,487)

Total (84,909) (430,030) (169,355) (684,304) (701,907)

Irish Aid   
Funds 2019

Other Funds  
2019

Total Funds  
2019

Total Funds  
2018

€ € € €

Caritas Lodwar (Kenya) - (10,018) (10,018) (10,018)

Girl Child Network (Kenya) (233,972) (80,831) (314,803) (238,450)

Caritas Maddo (Uganda) - - - (17,535)

Voluntary Action for Development (Uganda) - (65,950) (65,950) (50,360)

St. Paul’s Community Turkana (Kenya) - (7,515) (7,515) (32,553)

Amani Kibera (Kenya) - - - (5,018)

Congregation of the Holy Spirit (Ghana) - (20,344) (20,344) -

Bemcom Youth Enterprises Assoc. (Ghana) - (6,400) (6,400) -

St James Senior Secondary School (Ghana) - (5,000) (5,000) -

Total  (233,972) (196,058 )  (430,030) (353,934)

8. CHARITABLE ACTIVITES – Grant Funding of Activities
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Governance costs included above  
can be analysed as follows:

Restricted  
Funds 2019

Unrestricted  
Funds 2019

Total Funds  
2019

Total Funds  
2018

€ € € €

Professional Audit Fees - (5,606) (5,606) (5,054)

Catering - (285) (285) (588)

Annual Report - (7,009) (7,009) (6,035)

CRO - (20) (20) (20)

Total - (12,920) (12,920) (11,697)

Raised 
Funds 
2019

Inclusive  
Quality  

Education  
Kenya 2019 

Karamoja  
Community 

Development 
Uganda 2019

Development 
Education

2019

Total
Funds
2019

Total
Funds
2018

€ € € € €

Salaries + Staff Costs (21,474) (78,736) (14,316) (28,631) (143,157) (139,977)

Office expenses (5,431) (19,913) (3,621) (7,241) (36,206) (40,273)

Website & IT (473) (1,733) (315) (630) (3,151) (4,575)

Repairs & depreciation (571) (2,094) (381) (762) (3,808) (3,403)

Governance (1,938) (7,106) (1,292) (2,584) (12,920) (11,697)

Total (29,887) (109,582) (19,925) (39,848) (199,242) (199,925)

9. SUPPORT COSTS

 Basis of allocation is time 2019 2018

The average numbers of persons employed by the company during the year were: No. No.

Administration 3 3

The staff costs comprised of: € €

Salaries 127,829 126,355

Social Welfare Costs 14,355 13,622

Employer Pension Contribution 973 -

Total 143,157 139,977

No. No.

Number of employees whose total employee benefits fall within the band €60,000 to €69,999 1 1

10. EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION

Aidlink’s Chief Executive Officer, Anne Cleary, was paid €66,744 (2018: €66,744) and received a contribution of €973 
(2018: nil) into a defined contribution pension scheme. She received no additional benefits in the current or prior year. 

There are no other employees whose total employee benefits exceed €60,000. Payroll costs are allocated to 
expenditure headings in accordance with the employee’s time inputs. Key management personnel received a total of 
€67,717 (2018: €66,744), inclusive of employer’s pension contribution, in gross salary payments excluding employer 
PRSI in 2019.
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2019 2018

€ €

Net income is stated after charging:

Directors' remuneration and emoluments - -

Depreciation 1,330 1,534

Auditors' remuneration 5,200 5,054

and after crediting:

Interest income - -

Auditors' remuneration disclosure (excluding Value Added Tax)

Audit 4,500 4,305

Tax advisory services - -

Other assurance services - -

Other non-assurance services - -

11. NET INCOME

Directors are entitled to reimbursement for vouched expenditure incurred in the performance of their duties. The 
amount charged in 2019 was € nil (2018: € nil). 

12. TAXATION

There is no charge to taxation in respect of the organisation as Aidlink has been granted charitable status under 
Section 207 of the Consolidated Tax Act, 1997, therefore no provision for taxation has been made.

Office  
Equipment

Computer  
Equipment Total

€ € €

Cost

At 31 December 2018 4,215 10,991 15,206

Additions - - -

At 31 December 2019 4,215 10,991 15,206

Depreciation

At 31 December 2018 4,165 7,151 11,316

Charge in year 50 1,280 1,330

At 31 December 2019 4,215 8,431 12,646

Net book value

At 31 December 2019 - 2,560 2,560

At 31 December 2018 50 3,840 3,890

13. FIXED ASSETS 

2019 2018

€ €

Debtors and accrued income 8,601 10,915

14. DEBTORS: (AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR)

2019 2018

€ €

PAYE/PRSI 2,972 3,534

Accruals 6,142 10,704

Total 9,114 14,238

15. CREDITORS: (AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR)
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16. MOVEMENT IN FUNDS

MOVEMENT IN FUNDS
Restricted  

Funds
Unrestricted  

Funds
Designated  

Fund
Total  

Funds 

€ € € €

Funds of the Charity

Balance at 1 January 2019 178,725 101,311 150,000 430,036

Income 497,586 167,479 - 665,065

Expenditure (510,874) (210,234) - (721,108)

Transfers - - - -

Balance at 31 December 2019 165,437 58,556 150,000 373,993

ANALYSIS OF NET ASSETS  
BETWEEN FUNDS

Restricted  
Funds

Unrestricted  
Funds

Designated  
Fund

Total  
Funds

€ € € €

Tangible fixed assets - 2,560 - 2,560

Current assets 165,437 65,110 150,000 380,547

Current liabilities - (9,114) - (9,114)

Balance at 31 December 2019 165,437 58,556 150,000 373,993

17. RECONCILIATION OF NET INCOME TO NET CASH (USED IN)/ FROM CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES

2019 2018

€ €

Net (expenditure)/ income (56,043) 122,988

Movement in funds before financial activities (56,043) 122,988

Depreciation charge 1,330 1,534

Decrease in debtors 2,314 49,420

(Decrease) in creditors (5,124) (8,750)

Net Cash outflow from charitable activities (57,523) 165,192

18. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 

2019 2018

€ €

Within one year 10,125 13,500

Later than one year but within five years - 10,125

10,125 23,625

Aidlink rents its office premises under an operating lease. Under the terms of this lease, Aidlink has outstanding 
commitments in respect of a non-cancellable operating lease as follows:

19. RELATED PARTIES

Included in donations is an amount of €10,950 (2018: €1,458) received from Directors of the company with no 
conditions attaching. There are no other related party transactions.

20. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The carrying value of the company’s financial assets and liabilities are summarised by category below:

2019 2018

€ €

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Measured at undiscounted amount receivable

Debtors and accrued income (see note 14) 8,601 10,915

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Measured at undiscounted amount payable

PAYE/PRSI/USC (see note 15) 2,972 3,534
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21. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

The Covid 19 pandemic is a non-adjusting post balance sheet event that has had a major impact on the ability of 
Aidlink to raise funds and on its operations. 

General fundraising has been limited and Immersion programmes originally scheduled for 2020 have been deferred 
to 2021. In addition, the shutting down of international travel has meant that all monitoring and evaluation of our 
partners have had to take place through electronic means.
 
We have engaged with our supporters who have continued to provide guidance and much needed financial resources. 

Aidlink’s main operations are determined to a large extent by the requirements of Irish Aid. Irish Aid has been 
particularly supportive and has amended the terms and conditions of its grant to recognise the challenges of operating 
in a Covid 19 environment. 

In response to the funding challenges of the Covid 19 pandemic, the Board agreed to release the company’s 
designated reserve fund that amounted to €150,000 as at 31 December 2019. 

All schools in Kenya and Uganda have been closed since the end of March limiting access to target communities 
resulting in increased risk to the welfare and safety of children especially girls. 

With the support of Irish Aid the Kenya Inclusive Quality Education programme plans were adjusted to meet the 

immediate needs of target communities. Measures taken to reduce risks to the most vulnerable included:

• the transfer of school based feeding to household level,

• the provision of sanitary pads for girls,

• the installation of handwashing stations for at risk communities

• Public Health messaging

• community facilitators supported to maintain child protection surveillance and support to out of school children, especially 

girls.
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Gender Equality 

Aidlink and our partners are working to address 
the barriers that keep girls from attending school 
and flourishing in society.

Education 

We work to provide better education and  
increase enrolment and retention in schools. 

Livelihoods 

We support families to develop  
sustainable agricultural practices.

Emergencies 

Together with our partners, we provide a range  
of support to crisis affected communities.


